
. 

The Retirement Board will provide reasonable accommodations for 
persons with disabilities planning to attend Board meetings who 
contact the Retirement Office at least 24 hours before a meeting. 

AGENDA  

RETIREMENT BOARD MEETING 

SECOND MONTHLY MEETING 
July 24, 2019 

9:00 a.m. 

Retirement Board Conference Room 
The Willows Office Park 

1355 Willow Way, Suite 221 
Concord, California 

THE RETIREMENT BOARD MAY DISCUSS AND TAKE ACTION ON THE FOLLOWING: 

1. Pledge of Allegiance.

2. Accept comments from the public.

3. Approve minutes from the June 26, 2019 meeting.

CLOSED SESSION 

4. The Board will go into closed session pursuant to Govt. Code Section 54956.9(d)(1) to
confer with legal counsel regarding pending litigation:

a. Nowicki v. CCCERA, et al., Contra Costa County Superior Court, Case No. C17-
01266 

b. CCCERA v. Salgado, Contra Costa County Superior Court, Case No. MSC19-00580

OPEN SESSION 

5. Appoint audit committee members.

6. Education on pension obligation bonds.

7. Discussion of East Contra Costa Fire Protection District request.

8. Consider and take possible action to adopt Board of Retirement Resolution 2019-5, Funding
of I.R.C. Section 115 Trust for Other Post Employment Benefits for CCCERA employees.

9. Presentation of the Contra Costa County Local Area Formation Commission employer audit
report.

10. Presentation of the First 5 Contra Costa Children and Families Commission employer audit
report.

11. Presentation of the Contra Costa In-Home Supportive Services Public Authority employer
audit report.



 
The Retirement Board will provide reasonable accommodations for 
persons with disabilities planning to attend Board meetings who 
contact the Retirement Office at least 24 hours before a meeting. 

12.  Consider authorizing the attendance of Board: 
a. Investment Forum, Dimensional Fund Advisors, September 18, 2019, Santa Monica, 

CA. 

13.  Miscellaneous 
a. Staff Report     
b. Outside Professionals’ Report  
c. Trustees’ comments 

 



MINUTES 

RETIREMENT BOARD MEETING MINUTES 

REGULAR MEETING 
June 26, 2019 

9:00 a.m. 

Retirement Board Conference Room 
The Willows Office Park 

1355 Willow Way, Suite 221 
Concord, California 

Present: Candace Andersen, Scott Gordon, Jerry Holcombe, Jay Kwon, Louie Kroll, David 
MacDonald, John Phillips, Todd Smithey and Russell Watts 

Absent: William Pigeon and Jerry Telles 

Staff: Gail Strohl, Chief Executive Officer; Christina Dunn, Deputy Chief Executive Officer; 
Timothy Price, Chief Investment Officer; Karen Levy, General Counsel; Wrally 
Dutkiewicz, Compliance Officer; Anne Sommers, Administrative/HR Manager; and 
Henry Gudino, Accounting Manager 

Outside Professional Support: Representing: 
Ed Hoffman Verus Investments 
Andrew Paulden Brown Armstrong Accountancy Corporation 
John Botsford Milliman 

1. Pledge of Allegiance

The Board, staff and audience joined in the Pledge of Allegiance.

2. Accept comments from the public

No member of the public offered comment.

3. Approval of Minutes

It was M/S/C to approve the minutes from the May 22, 2019 meeting. (Yes:  Andersen, Gordon,
Holcombe, Kroll, MacDonald, Phillips and Smithey)

4. Presentation from Brown Armstrong on the audit of the December 31, 2018 financial statements

Paulden presented the audit of the December 31, 2018 financial statements.  He reviewed the audit
process, significant audit areas, scope of the audit and opinions of the audit. He reported there were no
internal control weaknesses and they have issued the highest opinion on the financial statements. He
congratulated the Board and staff on receiving the highest opinion.

He reviewed the agreed upon conditions noting in their opinion, they had no impact.

sshedd
Text Box
Meeting Date07/24/19Agenda Item#3



Page 2 
June 26, 2019 

5. Discussion regarding funding of I.R.C. Section 115 Trust for Other Post-Employment Benefits
for CCCERA employees

Botsford reviewed projections for the CCCERA staff OPEB plan’s funded status and Actuarially
Determined Contribution (ADC) based on 5-year, 10-year, 15-year, 20-year and 30-year amortization
periods.

It was the consensus of the Board that a 10-year amortization period would be appropriate.  An
amendment of the current funding policy will be presented to the Board for its consideration at a future
Board meeting.

6. Presentation of Annual Investment Funding Plan

Price reported the current balance of the liquidity program is $1.66 bn and an additional $530 mm is
needed to fund the program through June 2023.  He stated staff believes the best source for funds for
the 2019 Liquidity sub-portfolio refresh are the employer pre-payments, estimated at $290 mm, and
partial redemptions from the Growth sub-portfolio, specifically domestic equity and high yield,
totaling approximately $240 mm.  The trades should happen by the end of July and he will report back
to the Board in August.

7. Consider and take possible action to adopt Board of Retirement Resolution No. 2019-4,
Investment Asset Allocation Targets and Ranges

It was M/S/C to adopt Board of Retirement Resolution No. 2019-4, Investment Asset Allocation
Targets and Ranges. (Yes: Andersen, Gordon, Holcombe, Kroll, MacDonald, Phillips and Smithey)

8. Presentation of 2018 CCCERA budget vs. actual expenses report

Gudino presented the 2018 CCCERA budget vs. actual expenses report.  He reviewed the
administrative and non-administrative budgets and expenses.

Watts was present for subsequent discussion and voting. 

He reported there was a decrease in disability hearings/medical reviews and audit services. He stated 
the Administrative expenses of $9.3 million are 0.10% of the Actuarial Accrued Liability and well 
under the limit of 0.21%. 

9. Consider authorizing the attendance of Board:

a. It was M/S/C to authorize the attendance of 2 Board members at the Principles of Pension
Governance, CALAPRS, August 26-29, 2019, Malibu, CA.  (Yes: Andersen, Gordon, Holcombe,
Kroll, MacDonald, Phillips, Smithey and Watts)

b. It was M/S/C to authorize the attendance of 3 Board members at the Invesco Global Client
Conference, November 5-7, 2019, La Jolla, CA.  (Yes: Andersen, Gordon, Holcombe, Kroll,
MacDonald, Phillips, Smithey and Watts)

10. Miscellaneous

(a) Staff Report –

Strohl reported on the move to the new CCCERA office location noting that staff is also working 
on a new logo. A copy of a logo was distributed. 

(b) Outside Professionals’ Report -    



Page 3 
June 26, 2019 

Hoffman reported he will be leaving Verus at the end of July.  He introduced and provided brief 
backgrounds on Eileen Neill and Mike Kamell who will be taking his place.  Strohl 
acknowledged Hoffman stating he has done a great job for CCCERA and will be missed. The 
Board agreed. 

Neil reviewed her background.  

(c) Trustees’ comments – 

Smithey congratulated all of the staff that worked on the CAFR noting it is one of the best ones 
he has seen.  He noted an Audit Committee meeting will be held after the Board meeting. 

It was M/S/C to adjourn the meeting.  (Yes: Andersen, Gordon, Holcombe, Kroll, MacDonald, Phillips, 
Smithey and Watts) 

Todd Smithey, Chairman David MacDonald, Secretary 



C
op

yr
ig

ht
 ©

 2
01

9 
by

 T
he

 S
eg

al
 G

ro
up

, I
nc

. A
ll 

rig
ht

s 
re

se
rv

ed
. 

PE
N

SI
O

N
 O

B
LI

G
AT

IO
N

 B
O

N
D

S

Ed
uc

at
io

na
l S

es
si

on
Ju

ly
 2

4,
 2

01
9

C
on

tr
a 

C
os

ta
 C

ou
nt

y 
Em

pl
oy

ee
s’

 
R

et
ire

m
en

t A
ss

oc
ia

tio
n

C
om

pl
et

ed
 b

y:
S

eg
al

 C
on

su
lti

ng
S

an
 F

ra
nc

is
co

55
89

28
8

sshedd
Text Box
Meeting Date07/24/19Agenda Item#6



2


R

ev
ie

w
 o

f t
he

 U
nf

un
de

d 
A

ct
ua

ria
l A

cc
ru

ed
 L

ia
bi

lit
y 

(U
A

A
L)

•
W

ha
t i

t i
s 

an
d 

ho
w

 it
’s

 p
ai

d


P

en
si

on
 O

bl
ig

at
io

n 
B

on
ds

 (P
O

B
s)

•
O

ve
rv

ie
w

 a
nd

 B
ac

kg
ro

un
d

•
G

en
er

al
 C

on
si

de
ra

tio
ns

•
M

ea
su

rin
g 

th
e 

po
te

nt
ia

l e
co

no
m

ic
 b

en
ef

it 
to

 th
e 

em
pl

oy
er

•
Po

te
nt

ia
l C

on
ce

rn
s


H

an
dl

in
g 

of
 P

O
B

s 
in

 th
e 

ac
tu

ar
ia

l v
al

ua
tio

n

C
on

te
nt

 to
 b

e 
C

ov
er

ed



3


Th

e 
N

or
m

al
 C

os
t i

s 
th

e 
po

rt
io

n 
of

 th
e 

lo
ng

 te
rm

 c
os

t a
llo

ca
te

d
t o

 a
 y

ea
r o

f s
er

vi
ce

—
on

ly
 a

ct
iv

e 
m

em
be

rs
 h

av
e 

a 
cu

rr
en

t N
or

m
al

C
os

t


Th
e 

A
ct

ua
ria

l A
cc

ru
ed

 L
ia

bi
lit

y 
(A

A
L)

 m
ea

su
re

s 
th

e 
N

or
m

al
C

os
ts

 fr
om

 p
as

t y
ea

rs
—

fo
r r

et
ire

d 
m

em
be

rs
, t

he
 A

A
L 

is
 th

e 
en

tir
e

v a
lu

e 
of

 th
ei

r b
en

ef
it

Fu
nd

in
g 

R
et

ire
m

en
t B

en
ef

its
—

A
ct

ua
ria

l T
er

m
in

ol
og

y

C
ur

re
nt

 Y
ea

r ’
s 

N
or

m
al

 C
os

t

A
ct

ua
ria

l A
cc

ru
ed

 
Li

ab
ili

ty
 (A

A
L)

Fu
tu

re
 N

or
m

al
 

C
os

ts

C
ur

re
nt

 A
ge

En
tr

y 
A

ge
R

et
ire

m
en

t A
ge

Pr
es

en
t V

al
ue

 o
f F

ut
ur

e 
B

en
ef

its



4

Fu
nd

in
g 

R
et

ire
m

en
t B

en
ef

its
—

C
os

t E
le

m
en

ts

A
ct

ua
ria

l V
al

ue
 

of
 A

ss
et

s
(A

VA
)

U
nf

un
de

d 
A

ct
ua

ria
l 

A
cc

ru
ed

 L
ia

bi
lit

y 
(U

A
A

L)C
ur

re
nt

 Y
ea

r’s
 

A
m

or
tiz

at
io

n 
of

 U
A

A
L

C
ur

re
nt

 Y
ea

r’s
 

N
or

m
al

 C
os

t

Pr
es

en
t V

al
ue

 o
f 

Fu
tu

re
 N

or
m

al
 C

os
ts

Pr
es

en
t V

al
ue

 o
f F

ut
ur

e 
B

en
ef

its



5


U

A
A

L 
= 

A
ct

ua
ria

l A
cc

ru
ed

 L
ia

bi
lit

y 
M

in
us

 A
ct

ua
ria

l
(o

r V
al

ua
tio

n)
 V

al
ue

 o
f A

ss
et

s


U

A
A

L 
is

 (u
su

al
ly

) c
ha

rg
ed

 to
 th

e 
em

pl
oy

er
 a

s 
a 

se
rie

s 
of

 in
cr

ea
si

ng
an

nu
al

 p
ay

m
en

ts
 o

ve
r s

om
e 

fix
ed

 p
er

io
d 

of
 ti

m
e


P

er
ce

nt
ag

e 
in

cr
ea

se
 in

 a
nn

ua
l p

ay
m

en
ts

 e
qu

al
s 

ex
pe

ct
ed

 in
cr

ea
s e

in
 a

nn
ua

l p
ay

ro
ll


E

ac
h 

an
nu

al
 p

ay
m

en
t i

nc
lu

de
s:

•
In

te
re

st
 o

n 
th

e 
ou

ts
ta

nd
in

g 
U

AA
L 

an
d

•
U

AA
L 

“p
rin

ci
pa

l” 
re

pa
ym

en
t, 

lik
e 

a 
m

or
tg

ag
e 

pa
ym

en
t


In

te
re

st
 is

 c
ha

rg
ed

 to
 th

e 
em

pl
oy

er
 a

t t
he

 a
ct

ua
ria

lly
 a

ss
um

ed
 ra

te
( i.

e.
, 7

.0
0%

)

R
ev

ie
w

 o
f t

he
 U

A
A

L



6


P

O
B

s 
ar

e 
ta

xa
bl

e 
bo

nd
s 

is
su

ed
 b

y 
a 

go
ve

rn
m

en
t e

nt
ity

•
C

an
 b

e 
us

ed
 to

 p
ay

 s
om

e 
or

 a
ll 

of
 th

e 
en

tit
y’

s 
U

AA
L


P

ro
ce

ed
 fr

om
 P

O
B

s 
ar

e 
de

po
si

te
d 

in
 th

e 
pe

ns
io

n 
pl

an
•

In
ve

st
ed

 a
lo

ng
 w

ith
 th

e 
pe

ns
io

n 
pl

an
s’

 o
th

er
 a

ss
et

s


Th

e 
P

O
B

 a
ffe

ct
s 

tw
o 

di
ffe

re
nt

 fi
na

nc
ia

l o
bl

ig
at

io
ns

:
•

In
cr

ea
se

d 
de

bt
 s

er
vi

ce
 p

ay
m

en
ts

 fr
om

 th
e 

ne
w

 b
on

ds
•

D
ec

re
as

ed
 c

on
tri

bu
tio

ns
 to

 th
e 

re
tir

em
en

t s
ys

te
m


B

as
el

in
e 

ra
m

ifi
ca

tio
ns

 o
f P

O
B

s:
•

En
tit

y 
ta

ke
s 

on
 fi

xe
d 

de
bt

 to
 in

ve
st

 in
 (v

ar
ia

bl
e)

 p
en

si
on

 p
la

n 
as

se
ts

•
Th

is
 re

su
lts

 in
 le

ve
ra

gi
ng

 b
y 

ta
ki

ng
 o

n 
de

bt
 to

 a
cc

ep
t m

or
e 

ex
po

su
re

 t o
m

a r
ke

t v
ol

at
ilit

y

W
ha

t i
s 

a 
Pe

ns
io

n 
O

bl
ig

at
io

n 
B

on
d 

(P
O

B
)



7


O

ve
ra

ll 
pu

rp
os

e 
of

 P
O

B
s 

is
 to

 a
llo

w
 g

ov
er

nm
en

ta
l/p

ub
lic

 p
la

n
s p

on
so

rs
 to

:
•

Is
su

e 
fix

ed
 o

bl
ig

at
io

n 
de

bt
 in

st
ru

m
en

ts
 a

nd
 in

ve
st

 p
ro

ce
ed

s 
in

 p
en

si
on

as
se

ts
•

R
ed

uc
e 

ov
er

al
l u

nf
un

de
d 

lia
bi

lit
y 

on
 a

ss
um

pt
io

n 
th

at
 re

tu
rn

 o
n 

as
se

ts
 w

ill
ex

ce
ed

 c
os

t o
f b

on
d 

pa
ym

en
ts


Fi

rs
t P

O
B

s 
is

su
ed

 in
 m

id
-1

98
0 

w
er

e 
ta

x 
ex

em
pt

•
M

ak
in

g 
it 

ea
si

er
 to

 a
ch

ie
ve

 p
os

iti
ve

 s
pr

ea
d 

be
tw

ee
n 

re
tu

rn
 o

n 
in

ve
st

ed
as

se
ts

 a
nd

 b
on

d 
se

rv
ic

e


19

86
 c

ha
ng

e 
to

 fe
de

ra
l t

ax
 la

w
 m

ad
e 

P
O

B
s 

ta
xa

bl
e

•
PO

Bs
 h

av
e 

be
en

 is
su

ed
 in

 s
ev

er
al

 “w
av

es
” i

n 
ea

rly
 1

99
0s

 a
nd

ea
rly

 2
00

0s


A

ss
es

sm
en

t o
f P

O
B

s 
re

fle
ct

s 
a 

co
m

bi
na

tio
n 

of
 fi

na
nc

ia
l a

na
ly

si
s 

an
d

m
or

e 
su

bj
ec

tiv
e 

be
lie

fs
 a

bo
ut

 ri
sk

, g
ov

er
na

nc
e 

an
d 

fu
tu

re
 e

co
no

m
ic

co
nd

iti
on

s

Pe
ns

io
n 

O
bl

ig
at

io
n 

B
on

ds
: O

ve
rv

ie
w

 a
nd

 B
ac

kg
ro

un
d



8


B

or
ro

w
 a

t t
ax

ab
le

 in
te

re
st

 ra
te


P

ay
 d

ow
n 

ex
is

tin
g 

U
A

A
L


E

m
pl

oy
er

 c
on

tri
bu

tio
n 

dr
op

s 
to

w
ar

ds
 o

r f
ul

ly
 to

 n
or

m
al

 c
os

t (
on

ly
)

fo
l lo

w
in

g 
is

su
an

ce


B

on
d 

U
nd

er
w

rit
er

’s
 P

itc
h:

•
R

et
ire

m
en

t s
ys

te
m

 c
ha

rg
es

 e
m

pl
oy

er
 in

te
re

st
 o

n 
th

e 
U

AA
L

at
 a

ct
ua

ria
l

ra
te

 (e
.g

., 
7%

)
•

Bo
nd

 d
eb

t i
s 

ch
ar

ge
d 

at
 th

e 
lo

w
er

 ta
xa

bl
e 

in
te

re
st

 ra
te

 (e
.g

., 
5%

)
•

D
iff

er
en

ce
 p

ro
vi

de
s 

ec
on

om
ic

 b
en

ef
it 

to
 e

m
pl

oy
er

 b
y 

re
du

ci
ng

 to
ta

l
f u

tu
re

 c
os

t

PO
B

 T
ra

ns
ac

tio
n



9


P

ot
en

tia
l p

itf
al

ls
•

Ec
on

om
ic

 b
en

ef
it 

is
 re

al
iz

ed
 o

nl
y 

if 
th

e 
bo

nd
 p

ro
ce

ed
s,

 w
he

n 
in

ve
st

ed
 b

y
th

e 
re

tir
em

en
t p

la
n,

 a
ct

ua
lly

 e
ar

n 
a 

re
tu

rn
 e

qu
al

 to
 th

e 
ac

tu
ar

ia
l r

at
e

–
In

cr
ea

se
d 

to
ta

l c
os

t v
ol

at
ilit

y 
fro

m
 in

ve
st

m
en

t r
et

ur
n

•
Ex

po
se

s 
th

e 
en

tit
y 

to
 in

cr
ea

se
d 

m
ar

ke
t t

im
in

g 
ris

k
–

Th
e 

va
lu

e 
of

 P
O

Bs
 o

ve
r t

im
e 

is
 la

rg
el

y 
de

te
rm

in
ed

 b
y 

w
ha

t h
ap

pe
ns

 i n
th

e 
ye

ar
s 

fo
llo

w
in

g 
is

su
an

ce
•

Bo
nd

 is
su

an
ce

 fe
es

 a
dd

 to
 e

m
pl

oy
er

 d
eb

t, 
an

d 
th

e 
bo

nd
s 

th
em

se
lv

es
im

m
ed

ia
te

ly
 re

du
ce

 d
eb

t c
ap

ac
ity

 fo
r o

th
er

 p
ur

po
se

s
•

PO
B 

de
bt

 s
er

vi
ce

 is
 a

 fi
xe

d 
ob

lig
at

io
n

–
Pa

rt 
of

 e
m

pl
oy

er
’s

 to
ta

lp
en

si
on

 c
os

t
•

PO
B’

s 
ca

n 
ca

us
e 

in
cr

ea
se

d 
bu

dg
et

ar
y 

st
re

ss
 in

 th
e 

fu
tu

re
, e

sp
ec

ia
lly

 if
t h

e 
PO

B 
st

ru
ct

ur
e 

de
fe

rs
 c

os
ts

PO
B

 T
ra

ns
ac

tio
n



10


E

xa
m

pl
e:

•
$1

00
M

 P
O

B 
is

su
e 

to
 fu

lly
 fu

nd
 $

10
0M

 U
AA

L
•

18
 y

ea
r P

O
B 

pa
yo

ff 
m

at
ch

es
 1

8 
ye

ar
 a

m
or

tiz
at

io
n 

pe
rio

d 
fo

r U
AA

L
•

7%
 a

ct
ua

ria
l i

nv
es

tm
en

t r
et

ur
n 

as
su

m
pt

io
n

•
3.

25
%

 p
ay

ro
ll 

gr
ow

th
 a

ss
um

pt
io

n
•

5%
 P

O
B 

in
te

re
st

 ra
te

•
$1

M
 P

O
B 

is
su

an
ce

 e
xp

en
se

s


If 

ac
tu

al
 re

tu
rn

 o
n 

V
al

ua
tio

n 
A

ss
et

s 
= 

7%
in

 e
ac

h 
of

 th
e 

18
 y

ea
rs

•
To

ta
l e

m
pl

oy
er

 p
ay

m
en

ts
 d

ec
re

as
ed

by
 $

27
.4

M
 o

ve
r 1

8 
ye

ar
s

•
PV

 E
m

pl
oy

er
 S

a v
in

gs
= 

$1
7.

1M
*

–
N

et
 o

f e
xp

en
se

s

PO
B

 E
xa

m
pl

e

*
D

is
co

un
te

d 
at

 5
%

 b
on

d 
in

te
re

st
 ra

te



11

PO
B

 E
xa

m
pl

e

-$
2.

1

-$
1.

9

-$
1.

7

-$
1.

5

-$
1.

3

-$
1.

1

-$
0.

9

1
2

3
4

5
6

7
8

9
10

11
12

13
14

15
16

17
18

$ in Millions

Ye
ar

C
ha

ng
e 

in
 E

m
pl

oy
er

 P
ay

m
en

t (
w

/ P
O

B
 m

in
us

 w
/o

 P
O

B
) 

A
ct

ua
l R

et
ur

n 
on

 V
al

ua
tio

n 
A

ss
et

s 
of

 7
%

ov
er

 1
8 -

Ye
ar

 A
m

or
tiz

at
io

n 
Pe

ri
od

C
ha

ng
e 

in
 E

m
pl

oy
er

 P
ay

m
en

t (
w

/ P
O

B
 m

in
us

 w
/o

 P
O

B
)



12


If 

A
ct

ua
l R

et
ur

n 
on

 V
al

ua
tio

n 
A

ss
et

s 
= 

4%
in

 e
ac

h 
of

 th
e 

18
 y

ea
rs

•
To

ta
l e

m
pl

oy
er

 p
ay

m
en

ts
 in

cr
ea

se
d

by
 $

20
.3

M
 o

ve
r 1

8 
ye

ar
s

•
PV

 E
m

pl
oy

er
 C

os
t=

 $
8.

6M
*

–
N

et
 o

f e
xp

en
se

s

PO
B

 E
xa

m
pl

e

*
D

is
co

un
te

d 
at

 5
%

 b
on

d 
in

te
re

st
 ra

te



13

PO
B

 E
xa

m
pl

e

-$
2.

0

-$
1.

0

$0
.0

$1
.0

$2
.0

$3
.0

$4
.0

$5
.0

1
2

3
4

5
6

7
8

9
10

11
12

13
14

15
16

17
18

$ in Millions

Ye
ar

C
ha

ng
e 

in
 E

m
pl

oy
er

 P
ay

m
en

t (
w

/ P
O

B
 m

in
us

 w
/o

 P
O

B
) 

A
ct

ua
l R

et
ur

n 
on

 V
al

ua
tio

n 
A

ss
et

s 
of

 4
%

ov
er

 1
8-

Ye
ar

 A
m

or
tiz

at
io

n 
Pe

ri
od

C
ha

ng
e 

in
 E

m
pl

oy
er

 P
ay

m
en

t (
w

/ P
O

B
 m

in
us

 w
/o

 P
O

B
)



14


E

co
no

m
ic

 b
en

ef
it 

of
 P

O
B

 d
ep

en
ds

 o
n 

w
ha

t F
un

d 
ac

tu
al

ly
 e

ar
ns

•
N

ot
th

e 
di

ffe
re

nc
e 

be
tw

ee
n 

th
e 

ac
tu

ar
ia

l i
nv

es
tm

en
t r

et
ur

n 
as

su
m

pt
io

n
an

d 
th

e 
PO

B 
in

te
re

st
 ra

te


P
O

B
 a

ss
es

sm
en

t r
eq

ui
re

s 
us

e 
of

 ti
m

e 
ho

riz
on

 re
fle

ct
in

g 
bo

nd
du

ra
tio

n 
(a

nd
 U

A
A

L
am

or
tiz

at
io

n 
pe

rio
d)


P

O
B

 le
ve

ra
ge

 in
cr

ea
se

s 
ov

er
al

l c
on

tri
bu

tio
n 

vo
la

til
ity

 fo
r t

he
co

m
bi

ne
d 

co
st

 o
f d

eb
t s

er
vi

ce
 a

nd
 p

en
si

on
 c

os
t


E

ve
n 

w
he

n 
m

od
el

in
g 

sh
ow

s 
hi

gh
 li

ke
lih

oo
d 

of
 fa

vo
ra

bl
e 

ou
tc

om
e,

P
O

B
 s

uc
ce

ss
 is

 h
ea

vi
ly

 im
pa

ct
ed

 b
y 

tim
in

g


R
ea

l v
al

ue
/c

os
t a

ss
oc

ia
te

d 
w

ith
 p

rio
r P

O
B

s 
w

ill
 n

ot
 b

e 
kn

ow
n 

un
til

bo
nd

s 
m

at
ur

e


P
O

B
s 

sh
ou

ld
 b

e 
fo

cu
se

d 
on

 U
A

A
L

an
d 

no
t s

ub
st

itu
te

 fo
r c

ur
re

nt
c o

nt
rib

ut
io

ns
 o

r o
th

er
 s

ho
rt-

te
rm

 re
qu

ire
m

en
ts


Im

pa
ct

 o
f P

O
B

 o
n 

ov
er

al
l b

on
di

ng
 a

ut
ho

rit
y/

ca
pa

ci
ty

 o
f i

ss
ue

r m
us

t
be

 c
on

si
de

re
d

G
en

er
al

 C
on

si
de

ra
tio

ns



15


G

ov
er

nm
en

t F
in

an
ce

 O
ffi

ce
rs

 A
ss

oc
ia

tio
n 

(G
FO

A
) i

ss
ue

d 
an

ad
v i

so
ry

 in
 2

01
5 

re
co

m
m

en
di

ng
 th

at
 g

ov
er

nm
en

ta
l e

nt
iti

es
 d

o 
no

t
i s

su
e 

P
O

B
s

•
In

ve
st

ed
 P

O
B 

pr
oc

ee
ds

 m
ig

ht
 fa

il 
to

 e
ar

n 
in

te
re

st
 ra

te
 o

w
ed

 o
n 

bo
nd

s
•

C
om

pl
ex

 in
st

ru
m

en
ts

 c
ar

ry
in

g 
co

ns
id

er
ab

le
 ri

sk
•

Is
su

in
g 

ta
xa

bl
e 

de
bt

 to
 fu

nd
 p

en
si

on
 li

ab
ilit

y 
us

es
 u

p 
de

bt
 c

ap
ac

ity
 th

at
c o

ul
d 

be
 u

se
d 

fo
r o

th
er

 p
ur

po
se

s
•

Fr
eq

ue
nt

ly
 s

tru
ct

ur
ed

 in
 m

an
ne

r t
ha

t d
ef

er
s 

pr
in

ci
pa

l p
ay

m
en

t o
r e

xt
en

ds
re

pa
ym

en
t o

ve
r a

 p
er

io
d 

lo
ng

er
 th

an
 a

m
or

tiz
at

io
n 

pe
rio

d
•

R
at

in
g 

ag
en

ci
es

 m
ay

 n
ot

 v
ie

w
 is

su
an

ce
 o

f P
O

Bs
 a

s 
cr

ed
it 

po
si

tiv
e

PO
B

: C
on

ce
rn

s 
R

ai
se

d 
by

 G
FO

A



16


In

 2
01

7,
 S

&
P

 G
lo

ba
l R

at
in

gs
 is

su
ed

 th
e 

co
m

m
en

ta
ry

 “P
en

si
on

O
bl

ig
at

io
n 

B
on

ds
’ C

re
di

t I
m

pa
ct

 O
n 

U
.S

. L
oc

al
 G

ov
er

nm
en

t I
ss

ue
rs

”


E

xa
m

in
es

 th
e 

fo
llo

w
in

g 
as

pe
ct

s:
•

Ar
e 

PO
Bs

 b
ei

ng
 is

su
ed

 fo
r s

ho
rt 

te
rm

 b
ud

ge
ta

ry
 re

lie
f?

•
W

ill 
an

y 
fro

nt
-l o

ad
in

g 
of

 s
av

in
gs

 le
ad

 to
 h

ig
he

r, 
un

su
st

ai
na

bl
e 

co
st

s 
in

la
te

r y
ea

rs
?

•
W

hy
 is

 th
e 

pl
an

 u
nd

er
fu

nd
ed

 to
 b

eg
in

 w
ith

–
Is

su
in

g 
PO

Bs
 is

 m
or

e 
of

 a
 k

in
d 

of
 B

an
d-

Ai
d 

th
an

 a
 s

ol
ut

io
n 

to
un

de
r fu

nd
in

g
•

H
ow

 c
ou

ld
 m

ar
ke

t t
im

in
g 

af
fe

ct
 th

e 
co

st
 p

ro
fil

e 
of

 th
e 

re
tir

em
en

t p
la

n 
an

d
de

bt
 c

om
bi

ne
d?


E

m
ph

as
iz

es
 th

at
 P

O
B

s 
fo

r f
in

an
ci

al
ly

 d
is

tre
ss

ed
 is

su
er

s 
is

 c
le

ar
ly

 a
cr

ed
it-

ne
ga

tiv
e 

ac
tio

n

PO
B

: C
on

ce
rn

s 
R

ai
se

d 
by

 C
re

di
t R

at
in

g 
A

ge
nc

ie
s



17


A

ny
 P

O
B

s 
or

 a
dd

iti
on

al
 e

m
pl

oy
er

 p
ay

m
en

ts
 to

w
ar

ds
 th

e 
U

A
A

L
re

du
ce

 th
e 

em
pl

oy
er

’s
 U

A
A

L
co

nt
rib

ut
io

n 
ra

te


D

ol
la

r a
m

ou
nt

 o
f t

he
 a

nn
ua

l r
ed

uc
tio

n 
in

 th
e 

em
pl

oy
er

’s
 U

A
A

L
co

nt
rib

ut
io

ns
 d

ue
 to

 th
e 

P
O

B
 is

 b
as

ed
 o

n:
•

Am
or

tiz
in

g 
(a

s 
a 

le
ve

l p
er

ce
nt

 o
f p

ay
ro

ll)
 th

e 
ou

ts
ta

nd
in

g 
ba

la
nc

e 
of

 P
O

B
•

U
si

ng
 s

am
e 

pe
rio

d 
as

 u
se

d 
fo

r a
ct

ua
ria

l g
ai

ns
 a

nd
 lo

ss
es

 (1
8 

ye
ar

s)
•

U
si

ng
 in

ve
st

m
en

t r
et

ur
n 

an
d 

pa
yr

ol
l g

ro
w

th
 a

ss
um

pt
io

ns
 in

 e
ffe

ct
 a

t e
ac

h
v a

lu
at

io
n 

da
te


R

ed
uc

tio
n 

in
 th

e 
U

A
A

L
co

nt
rib

ut
io

n 
ra

te
 w

ill
 e

qu
al

:
•

D
ol

la
r a

m
ou

nt
 o

f r
ed

uc
tio

n 
in

 th
e 

em
pl

oy
er

’s
 U

AA
L

co
nt

rib
ut

io
ns

 d
iv

id
ed

by
 th

e 
em

pl
oy

er
’s

 e
xp

ec
te

d 
pa

yr
ol

l f
or

 th
e 

ye
ar

H
an

dl
in

g 
of

 P
O

B
s 

in
 A

ct
ua

ria
l V

al
ua

tio
n



18


Tw

el
ve

 c
os

t g
ro

up
s 

w
er

e 
cr

ea
te

d 
w

he
n 

de
po

ol
in

g
w

as
 im

pl
em

en
te

d
i n

 th
e 

D
ec

em
be

r 3
1,

 2
00

9 
va

lu
at

io
n


M

an
y 

c o
st

 g
ro

up
s 

ha
ve

 o
nl

y 
a 

si
ng

le
 e

m
pl

oy
er

, b
ut

 a
 fe

w
 h

av
e

m
ul

tip
le

 e
m

pl
oy

er
s


Fo

r c
os

t g
ro

up
s 

th
at

 h
av

e 
m

ul
tip

le
 e

m
pl

oy
er

s:
•

O
ut

st
an

di
ng

 b
al

an
ce

 o
f t

he
 P

O
B 

is
 tr

ac
ke

d 
se

pa
ra

te
ly

 in
 a

 m
an

ne
r

co
ns

is
te

nt
 w

ith
 p

ro
ce

du
re

 u
se

d 
to

 tr
ac

k 
U

AA
L

am
or

tiz
at

io
n 

la
ye

rs
–

C
re

di
te

d 
w

ith
 e

ar
ni

ng
s 

at
 C

C
C

ER
A’

s
in

ve
st

m
en

t r
et

ur
n 

as
su

m
pt

io
n

in
ef

fe
ct

 a
t e

ac
h 

va
lu

at
io

n 
da

te
–

R
ed

uc
ed

 b
y 

do
lla

r a
m

ou
nt

 o
f t

he
 a

nn
ua

l r
ed

uc
tio

n 
in

 th
e 

em
pl

oy
er

’s
U

AA
L

co
nt

rib
ut

io
ns

 d
ue

 to
 th

e 
pr

ep
ay

m
en

t


Fo
r e

m
pl

oy
er

s 
th

at
 a

re
 in

 th
ei

r o
w

n 
co

st
 g

ro
up

:
•

PO
B 

am
ou

nt
is

 d
ire

ct
ly

 a
dd

ed
 to

 th
e 

as
se

ts
 o

f c
os

t g
ro

up
•

Se
pa

ra
te

 tr
ac

ki
ng

 o
f  t

he
 o

ut
st

an
di

ng
 b

al
an

ce
 o

f t
he

 a
dd

iti
on

al
 U

AA
L

pa
ym

en
t i

s 
no

t n
ee

de
d

•
PO

B 
pa

ym
en

t w
ill 

au
to

m
at

ic
al

ly
 re

du
ce

 th
e 

em
pl

oy
er

’s
 U

AA
L

co
nt

rib
ut

io
ns

D
ep

oo
lin

g
an

d 
H

an
dl

in
g 

of
 P

O
B

s 
in

 A
ct

ua
ria

l V
al

ua
tio

n



19

Q
 U

 E
 S

 T
 I 

O
 N

 S



1355 Willow Way   Suite 221   Concord   CA    94520    925.521.3960   FAX: 925.521.3969    www.cccera.org 

MEMORANDUM 

Date: July 24, 2019 

To: Board of Retirement 

From: Gail Strohl, Chief Executive Officer 

Subject: Discussion of East Contra Costa Fire Protection District Request 

_________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Background 

When CCCERA was depooled in the 2009 actuarial valuation, Cost Group #8 was created and is 

comprised of two employers, the East Contra Costa Fire Protection District and the Contra Costa 

County Fire Protection District.  

East Contra Costa Fire Protection District has provided the enclosed request for the Board’s 

consideration. Segal Consulting has prepared responses to this request concerning 1) the 

treatment of the Contra Costa County Fire Protection District pension obligation bonds and also 

2) the allocating of costs based on liabilities rather than payroll for Cost Group #8.

The Board’s resolution adopted on July 7, 2005 and the Contra Costa County’s resolution 

approved June 28, 2005 concerning the Contra Costa County Fire Protection District pension 

obligation bonds is enclosed for reference.  

All of these items are being provided to the East Contra Costa Fire Protection District and the 

Contra Costa County Fire Protection District for their review. 

Recommendation 

This item is for discussion. 

sshedd
Text Box
Meeting Date07/24/19Agenda Item#7















180 Howard Street  Suite 1100  San Francisco, CA 94105-6153 
T 415.263.8200  www.segalco.com 

Benefits, Compensation and HR Consulting. Member of The Segal Group. Offices throughout the United States and Canada 

July 15, 2019 

Ms. Gail Strohl 
Chief Executive Officer 
Contra Costa County Employees' Retirement Association 
1355 Willow Way, Suite 221 
Concord, CA 94520 

Re: Contra Costa County Employees' Retirement Association (CCCERA) 
Response to Requests from East Contra Costa Fire Protection District Letter Dated 
May 1, 2019 

Dear Gail: 

As requested, we are providing responses to two requests found in the May 1, 2019 letter from 
Hanson Bridgett that is enclosed. The requests are on behalf of the East Contra Costa County 
Fire Protection District (“the District”). The requests are for the Retirement Board to take 
appropriate action to adjust two key factors driving the District's allocation of pension liabilities 
in Cost Group #8. In our responses below, we list out each of the requests in bold followed by 
our response. 

Note that Cost Group #8 was created as a result of depooling in the December 31, 2009 actuarial 
valuation. The Contra Costa County Fire Protection District ("ConFire") and the District were 
both pooled together in Cost Group #8 since the District had roughly 50 active members at the 
time of depooling implementation. This was the threshold for the number of active members for 
pooling smaller employers in a cost group for a larger employer.   

First, the District requests that the Board of Retirement make an adjustment to address the 
inconsistent and inappropriate treatment of ConFire's Pension Obligation Bonds during 
depooling and determination of the asset base for Cost Group #8. 

ConFire issued pension obligation bonds (POBs) in 2005. About $124.9 million of the POBs 
were an additional employer contribution towards paying down their UAAL. ConFire also made 
additional employer contribution towards their UAAL of $10.1 million in total during 2006 and 
2007. 



Ms. Gail Strohl 
July 15, 2019 
Page 2 

5585993v4/05337.001 

First, we note that Hanson Bridgett is not correct in believing that all of the additional employer 
contributions were allocated to ConFire General in Cost Group #5. Any POBs or additional 
employer contributions towards paying down ConFire’s UAAL were allocated to both ConFire 
Safety in Cost Group #8 and ConFire General in Cost Group #5 based on UAAL. Almost all of 
these amounts were allocated to ConFire Safety in Cost Group #8 as the UAAL for Cost Group 
#8 was significantly larger than the UAAL for ConFire General in Cost Group #5.  This includes 
not only the initial POB, but also the additional employer contributions towards paying down 
their UAAL.   

Hanson Bridgett also asks why the initial POB balance would have included a $3.7 million 
prepayment towards the Paulson Settlement.  Our understanding is that a Paulson Settlement 
amount was calculated for each employer and that amount was included in the financial 
statements as a contribution receivable.  However, in practice, employers were allowed to pay the 
Paulson Settlement amount over a period of years. 

Hanson Bridgett is not correct in their understanding that the initial POB balance that was 
tracked in the valuation included any payment towards the Paulson Settlement.  When ConFire 
issued POBs in 2005, the UAAL amount for this employer was $124,917,000.  This specific 
amount1 did not include the additional contributions that the ConFire was obligated to pay as part 
of the Paulson Settlement.   

As to the treatment of the POBs, in the actuarial valuation, employer contribution rates are first 
determined by excluding any POBs. This methodology only applies to cost groups that have 
more than one employer like Cost Group #8. This initial contribution rate applies to employers 
such as the District that did not issue POBs or make additional payments towards the UAAL. 
Then the remaining balance of any POBs is amortized into a dollar amount and then converted to 
a contribution rate credit by dividing by the compensation for that employer. The contribution 
rate credit only applies to the employer that issued the POBs. 

The assets for each Cost Group (including Cost Group #8) reflect actual investment returns as the 
assets for all cost groups in total must equal CCCERA's actual Market, Actuarial or Valuation 
Value of Assets.  

The balance of ConFire's POB and additional payments has been tracked since these amounts 
were deposited into CCCERA. The dollar amount of the contribution credit is calculated as a 
level percentage of compensation, so it increases by assumed wage growth (3.25% in the latest 
valuation) each year. The balance is increased with interest based on the investment return 

1 We believe that $129,900,000 was the total principal amount for the bond offering.  We understand that 
there were some fees associated with the bond offering, plus it is possible that amounts above the 
$124,917,000 were used to pay for ConFire’s remaining portion of the Paulson Settlement.  If so, then 
those amounts were not treated in a manner similar to the POBs. Instead, they were treated like other 
contributions that were included as a contribution receivable in the financial statements and valuation. 



Ms. Gail Strohl 
July 15, 2019 
Page 3 

5585993v4/05337.001 

assumption. It is decreased by the amount of any credits applied to reduce ConFire's contribution 
rates.  

As noted above, ConFire’s POB balance was credited with interest based on the assumed 
investment return for each year. This results in the same POB balance that would have existed 
had the actual annual investment returns equaled the discount rate each year. All of the above is 
consistent with CCCERA’s Actuarial Funding Policy (attached). These practices are described in 
detail under the section titled “Additional Employer UAAL Payments”.   

We have been requested, along with CCCERA, to consider whether it is more reasonable to 
adjust the asset base used in the de-pooling by using the actual returns for ConFire’s POB 
amount rather than the actuarial assumed return.  

Regarding the District's request to consider adjusting the asset base used in the depooling by 
using the actual returns rather than the actuarially assumed return, we believe that it could be 
reasonable to do that.  However, we also believe that the current methodology as applied is also 
reasonable. 

The current method of crediting the POB balance with the assumed return does mean that any 
actuarial gains or losses associated with the POB assets are allocated to both ConFire and the 
District. Such gains and losses occur when the actual market returns come in different than the 
investment return assumption, which is currently 7% per year. These actuarial gains or losses are 
applied to the contribution rates for both employers based on payroll. Since the payroll for 
ConFire represents about 92% of the payroll for Cost Group #8, 92% of the actuarial gain or loss 
is funded by ConFire with the remaining 8% funded by the District. 

For example, if the actuarial investment loss associated with the POB assets was $45 million, 
then roughly $41 million of the loss would be funded by ConFire with the remaining $4 million 
funded by the District.   

Note that not only gains and losses associated with the POB, but all other gains and losses are 
pooled between the two employers in this cost group. In addition, the Normal Cost is also pooled 
between these two employers. We note that the District’s employer Normal Cost for Safety Tier 
A and D is 0.6% of payroll higher than for ConFire. Nevertheless, the District pays substantially 
the same employer Normal Cost rate as ConFire due to the pooling. 

We believe that consideration could be given to instead crediting the POB with actual market 
returns on a prospective basis only (not retroactive) starting from the last valuation.  This would 
eliminate the pooling of future investment gains and losses associated with the POB between 
these two employers. Consideration could also be given to credit actual market returns on a 
retroactive basis back to the original date of POB issuance. Since the depooling calculation was 
retroactive to December 31, 2002, which is prior to the issuance of the POB, any retroactive 
adjustment to ConFire’s POB balance would not affect the depooling calculation for other 
employers. It would only affect the allocation of costs between ConFire and the District in Cost 
Group #8.   



Ms. Gail Strohl 
July 15, 2019 
Page 4 
 
 

5585993v4/05337.001 

Second, the District requests that the Board of Retirement consider allocating costs based 
on liabilities rather than payroll for Cost Group #8 

The second request is to consider whether it is more reasonable to allocate costs based on 
liabilities rather than active payroll within Cost Group #8. The District believes that allocation of 
costs based on liabilities would better align the actual benefits being paid with the contributions 
assigned for each agency in Cost Group #8. When the District is referring to “costs”, we believe 
that they are referring primarily to costs associated with paying down the UAAL (i.e., the UAAL 
contribution rate). 

We can confirm that while ConFire’s payroll represents about 92% of the total payroll for Cost 
Group #8, ConFire’s Actuarial Accrued Liability (AAL) represents about 96% of the AAL for 
Cost Group #8. This means that an allocation of UAAL costs based on liabilities instead of 
payroll would result in a significant reduction in the UAAL contribution rate for the District and 
an increase in the UAAL rate for ConFire that are very roughly equal to those calculated by the 
District’s actuary. 

Over the past nine valuations, the active member payroll for the District has decreased by 16%, 
while there has only been an 8% decrease for ConFire. Since the UAAL costs are allocated by 
payroll, this means that, all other things equal, more of the UAAL cost is now being funded by 
ConFire and less by the District than in past years.  

Based on all of the above and on CCCERA’s pooling practices, we do not believe it would be 
feasible to allocate costs based on liabilities while still continuing to have both employers in the 
same cost group. However, given the relative liabilities of the two employers, we believe that it 
would be reasonable for CCCERA to consider depooling the District into their own cost group 
on a prospective basis. This could be done by transferring the District’s entire AAL to a new cost 
group along with assets allocated based on AAL (consistent with the District’s request to have 
costs allocated based on liabilities) rather than payroll. 

Under this approach as part of this new depooling calculation, there would still need to be an 
adjustment to credit the balance of the POB to ConFire. In effect, this means that the assets 
allocated based on AAL would exclude the POB balance and then the POB balance would be 
allocated to the ConFire assets. The POB balance used in this calculation could include an 
adjustment similar to that requested by the District in their initial question above to reflect actual 
investment returns from the original date of POB issuance. 

This depooling would eliminate any pooling of future investment gains or losses associated with 
ConFire’s POB. It would also eliminate any future shifting of the UAAL cost from the District to 
ConFire if the number of active members at the District continues to decline over time. Any other 
future actuarial gains or losses associated with the District and ConFire will also be funded 
separately by the District and ConFire, respectively. 

Based on the December 31, 2017 actuarial valuation, this type of depooling action would result 
in a significant (over 40% of payroll) decrease in the UAAL contribution rate for the District and 



Ms. Gail Strohl 
July 15, 2019 
Page 5 
 
 

5585993v4/05337.001 

a roughly 4% of payroll increase in the UAAL contribution rate for ConFire. This calculation is 
based on the current practice of using ConFire’s POB balance reflecting assumed investment 
returns, as shown in the actuarial valuation report.  

The employer contribution rates for these two employers based on the December 31, 2017 
actuarial valuation before and after reflecting this type of depooling are shown in the first two 
rows in the table below. The third row contains similar information as the second with the 
exception that ConFire’s POB balance is adjusted retroactively to the date of POB issuance to 
reflect actual investment returns on a market value basis from that date through December 31, 
2017. Because cumulative returns on a market value basis have been lower than the assumption 
for the period from the date of POB issuance through December 31, 2017, the ConFire employer 
rate in the third row is higher than that shown in the second row where the POB reflects assumed 
returns. 

Employer Contribution Rate For Cost Group #8 (All Tiers Combined) 

Scenario 
Contra Costa County 

Fire Protection District 

East Contra Costa 
Fire Protection 

District 
Current without Depooling 71.6% 121.6% 
Depooling Based on Liability with 
Assumed Returns on POB 75.4% 78.1% 

Depooling Based on Liability with 
Actual Returns on POB Starting from 
POB Issuance2 

76.7% 63.4% 

One last consideration is that since the District has experienced some volatility in the number of 
active members, it may be more appropriate to express their UAAL amortization payment as a 
dollar amount (instead of a percent of payroll) if they are depooled. This would be similar to the 
current methodology used for determining the UAAL payment for the Rodeo-Hercules Fire 
Protection District. Otherwise, there could be significant volatility in the District’s UAAL 
payment when expressed as a percent of payroll. 

We are members of the American Academy of Actuaries and we meet the Qualification 
Standards of the American Academy of Actuaries to render the actuarial opinion herein. 

 

 

 

                                                 
2 Most of ConFire’s POBs were issued in 2005. Any adjustment to ConFire’s POB balance and the assets 

of Cost Group #8 (excluding the POB balance) has been amortized over 5 years. This is equal to the 
remaining amortization period on ConFire’s POB as of December 31, 2017. 



Ms. Gail Strohl 
July 15, 2019 
Page 6 

5585993v4/05337.001 

Please feel free to call us with any questions. 

Sincerely, 

Paul Angelo, FSA, MAAA, FCA, EA John Monroe, ASA, MAAA, EA 
Senior Vice President & Actuary Vice President & Actuary 

JZM/bbf 
Enclosures (5585800, 5589521) 















 
 

1 
 

CONTRA COSTA COUNTY EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT ASSOCIATION 

ACTUARIAL FUNDING POLICY 

INTRODUCTION: 

The purpose of this Actuarial Funding Policy is to record the funding objectives and policies set 
by the Board of Retirement (Board) for the Contra Costa County Employees’ Retirement 
Association (CCCERA). The Board establishes this Actuarial Funding Policy to help ensure the 
systematic funding of future benefit payments for members of CCCERA. In addition, this 
document records certain guidelines established by the Board to assist in administering 
CCCERA in a consistent and efficient manner.  

This Actuarial Funding Policy supersedes any previous Actuarial Funding Policies. It is a 
working document and may be modified as the Board deems necessary. 

GOALS OF ACTUARIAL FUNDING POLICY:  

1. To determine future contributions that, together with current plan assets, are expected to 
be sufficient to provide for all benefits provided by CCCERA; 

2. To seek reasonable and equitable allocation of the cost of benefits over time including the 
goal that annual contributions should, to the extent reasonably possible, maintain a close 
relationship to both the expected cost of each year of service and to variations around that 
expected cost;  

3. To manage and control future contribution volatility to the extent reasonably possible, 
consistent with other policy goals; and, 

4. To support the general public policy goals of accountability and transparency by being 
clear as to both intent and effect, allowing for an assessment of whether, how and when 
the plan sponsors will meet the funding requirements of the plan. 

FUNDING REQUIREMENT AND POLICY COMPONENTS:  

CCCERA’s annual funding requirement is comprised of a payment of the Normal Cost and a 
payment on the Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability (UAAL). The Normal Cost and the 
amount of payment on UAAL are determined by the following three components of this funding 
policy: 

I. Actuarial Cost Method:  Allocates the total present value of future benefits to each year 
(Normal Cost), including all past years (Actuarial Accrued Liability or AAL); 

II. Asset Smoothing Method:  Spreads the recognition of investment gains or losses over a 
period of time for the purposes of determining the Actuarial Value of Assets used in the 
actuarial valuation process. This reduces the effect of short-term market volatility while 
still tracking the overall movement of the market value of plan assets; and, 



 
 

2 
 

III. Amortization Policy:  Determines the length of time and the structure of the increase or 
decrease in contributions required to systemically (1) fund any Unfunded Actuarial 
Accrued Liability or UAAL, or (2) recognize any surplus, i.e., any assets in excess of the 
AAL. 

 
I. Actuarial Cost Method: 

The Entry Age method shall be applied to the projected benefits in determining the Normal Cost 
and the AAL. The Normal Cost shall be determined as a level percent of payroll on an individual 
basis for each active member. 

II. Asset Smoothing Method: 

The investment gains or losses of each valuation period, as a result of comparing the actual 
market return to the expected market return, shall be recognized in level amounts over 5 years in 
calculating the Actuarial Value of Assets. 

This policy anticipates that future circumstances may warrant adjustments to change the pattern 
of the recognition of the net deferred investment gains or losses after a period of significant 
market change followed by a period of market correction, upon receiving an analysis from 
CCCERA’s actuary. Such adjustments would be appropriate when the net deferred investment 
gains or losses are relatively small (i.e., the actuarial and market values are very close together), 
but the recognition of that net deferred amount is markedly non-level. Any such adjustment 
would be made subject to the following conditions: 
 
 The net deferred investment gains or losses are unchanged as of the date of the 

adjustment; and, 

 The period over which the net deferred investment gains and losses are fully recognized 
is unchanged as of the date of the adjustment. 

III. Amortization Policy: 
 
 The UAAL (i.e., the difference between the AAL and the Valuation Value of Assets) as 

of December 31, 2012 shall continue to be amortized over separate amortization layers 
based on the valuations during which each separate layer was previously established. 

 Any new UAAL as a result of actuarial gains or losses identified in the annual valuation 
as of December 31 will be amortized over a period of 18 years. 

 Any new UAAL as a result of change in actuarial assumptions or methods will be 
amortized over a period of 18 years. 

 

 



3 

 Unless the Board adopts an alternative amortization period after receiving an actuarial
analysis1:

a. with the exception noted in b., below, the increase in UAAL as a result of any plan
amendments will be amortized over a period of 10 years;

b. the entire increase in UAAL resulting from a temporary retirement incentive will be
funded in full upon adoption of the incentive. If the increase in UAAL is due to the
impact of benefits resulting from additional service permitted in Section 31641.04 of
the 1937 CERL (Golden Handshake), the entire increase in UAAL will be funded in
full upon adoption of the Golden Handshake.

 UAAL shall be amortized over “closed” amortization periods so that the amortization
period for each layer decreases by one year with each actuarial valuation.

 UAAL shall be amortized as a level percentage of payroll so that the amortization amount
in each year during the amortization period shall be expected to be a level percentage of
covered payroll, taking into consideration the current assumption for general payroll
increase.

 If an overfunding or “surplus” exists (i.e., the Valuation Value of Assets exceeds the
AAL, so that the total of all UAAL amortization layers become negative), any prior
UAAL amortization layers will be considered fully amortized, and any subsequent
UAAL will be amortized as the first of a new series of amortization layers, using the
above amortization periods.

If the surplus exceeds 20% of the AAL per Section 7522.52 of the Government Code,
then the amount of such surplus in excess of 20% of the AAL (and any subsequent
surpluses in excess of that amount) will be amortized over an “open” amortization period
of 30 years, but only if the other conditions of Section 7522.52 have also been met. If
those conditions are not met, then the surplus will not be amortized and the full Normal
Cost will be contributed.

 These amortization policy components will generally apply separately to each of
CCCERA’s UAAL cost groups with the exception that the conditions of Section 7522.52
apply to the total plan.

OTHER POLICY CONSIDERATIONS: 

Adjustment for 18-Month Delay in Rate Implementation 

1 In particular, the Board may want to incorporate into the amortization period demographic 
matching specific to the plan amendment. This could entail using the remaining active future 
service for plan changes that affect actives. For plan changes that affect retirees, this could 
entail using the remaining life expectancy for retirees or the period over which the increased 
cash flow to retirees is expected to be paid. 



4 

In order to allow employers to more accurately budget for pension contributions and other 
practical considerations, the contribution rates determined in each valuation (as of December 31) 
will apply to the 12-month period beginning 18 months after the valuation date. Any shortfall or 
excess contributions as a result of the implementation lag will be amortized as part of 
CCCERA’s UAAL in the following valuation. 

Implementation of Contribution Rate Change Due to Plan Amendment 

Any change in contribution rate requirement that results from a plan amendment is generally 
implemented on the effective date of the plan amendment or as soon as administratively feasible. 

Cost Sharing Arrangements 

Starting with the December 31, 2009 Actuarial Valuation, the Board took action to depool 
CCCERA’s assets, liabilities and Normal Cost by employer when determining employer 
contribution rates. The Board action included a review of experience back to December 31, 
2002. This did not involve recalculation of any employer rates prior to December 31, 2009. 
However, it did involve establishing the depooled assets so as to reflect the separate experience 
of the employers in each individual cost group from December 31, 2002 through December 31, 
2009. In addition, the Board took action to discontinue certain cost sharing adjustments for both 
member and employer contribution rates for General Tier 1 and Safety Tier A. 

Even under the depooling structure, there are a few remaining cost sharing arrangements. Here is 
a summary of the ongoing cost sharing arrangements: 

 Smaller employers (less than 50 active members) were pooled with the applicable County
tier. Safety members from the East Contra Costa Fire Protection District were pooled with
Safety members of the Contra Costa County Fire Protection District.

 Due to a statutory requirement, the Superior Court is pooled with the County regardless of
how many members the Court has.

 UAAL costs are pooled between Cost Group 1 and Cost Group 2 which represent General
County and Small Districts for Tiers 1 and 3. UAAL costs are also pooled for Cost Groups
7 and 9 which are Safety County Tiers A and C.

This was done because Cost Group 1 and Cost Group 7 had active members but were
generally closed to new members. If the UAAL for these two cost groups is not pooled
with another cost group that is open to new active members then the UAAL rate for these
generally closed cost groups would increase substantially in future years. This is due to the
fact that the UAAL for CCCERA is amortized as a level percent of payroll and the payroll
growth for the generally closed cost group would be less than the payroll growth
assumption. This will help stabilize the employer contribution rates for the mostly closed
Cost Group 1 and Cost Group 7. Normal Cost rates for those cost groups are not pooled.

There are some substantial differences between the Safety Tier A Enhanced and Safety Tier
C Enhanced benefits, such as the period over which final average salaries are determined



 
 

5 
 

and the COLA. However, since the County is the only employer in these two cost groups, 
they will be the only employer affected by this particular pooling. 

Employer/Member Cost Sharing 

The Cost Impact of Leave Cashouts 

CCCERA’s Basic and COLA member rates for members with membership dates before 
January 1, 2013 are increased to anticipate leave cashouts in the final year of employment 
using the same leave cashout assumptions adopted by the Board for the actuarial valuation 
for projecting benefit payments.  
 
The Cost Impact of Service from Unused Sick Leave Conversion 

Pursuant to Government Code Section 31641.01, for members with membership dates 
before January 1, 2013, the cost of this benefit will be charged only to employers and will 
not affect member contribution rates. 

Employer/Member cost sharing arrangements are subject to modification under Government 
Code Section 31631.5, and any such modifications would be incorporated into the determination 
of the employer and member contribution rates. 

Additional Employer UAAL Payments 
 
Absent any specific action by the Board, any additional employer payments towards the UAAL 
(including those from Pension Obligation Bonds (POBs) will be accepted by CCCERA in 
exchange for a corresponding reduction in the employer’s UAAL contribution rate over period(s) 
and in a manner consistent with that employer’s outstanding UAAL amortization layers and 
payments. 

The outstanding balance of the additional UAAL payment is tracked separately in a manner 
consistent with the procedure used to track the UAAL amortization layers. It will be credited 
with earnings at CCCERA’s investment return assumption in effect at each valuation date and 
reduced by the dollar amount of the annual reduction in the employer’s UAAL contributions due 
to the prepayment. 

Unless otherwise directed by the Board, the dollar amount of the annual reduction in the 
employer’s UAAL contributions due to the additional UAAL payment will be based on 
amortizing (as a level percentage of payroll) the outstanding balance of the additional UAAL 
payment amount over the same period as used for actuarial gains and losses, using CCCERA’s 
investment return and payroll growth assumptions in effect at each valuation date. 

The reduction in the UAAL contribution rate will then equal the dollar amount of reduction in 
the employer’s UAAL contributions divided by the employer’s expected payroll for the year 
following the valuation date. Rate reductions will apply starting on July 1 following receipt of 
the payment. The additional UAAL payment amount will be discounted back to the valuation 
date for which the contribution rates from that valuation become effective on that July 1. 



 
 

6 
 

The separate tracking of the outstanding balance applies only to employers that are in a cost 
group with more than one employer. For employers that are in their own cost group, the 
additional UAAL payment amount is directly added to the assets of their cost group. Separate 
tracking of the outstanding balance of the additional UAAL payment is not needed in this 
situation as the additional UAAL payment will automatically reduce the employer’s UAAL 
contributions. 

Employers with Declining Covered Payrolls 
 
Refer to the Declining Employer Payroll Actuarial Funding Policy for more information. 
 

POLICY REVIEW 

The Board of Retirement will review this Policy at least every three (3) years to ensure that it 
remains relevant and appropriate.  

HISTORY 

Adopted: 2/26/2014 

Amended: 8/13/2014, 5/22/2019 

 
  



7 

GLOSSARY OF FUNDING POLICY TERMS: 

• Present Value of Benefits (PVB) or total cost: the “value” at a particular point in time
of all projected future benefit payments for current plan members. The “future benefit
payments” and the “value” of those payments are determined using actuarial assumptions
as to future events. Examples of these assumptions are estimates of retirement patterns,
salary increases, investment returns, etc. Another way to think of the PVB is that if the
plan has assets equal to the PVB and all actuarial assumptions are met, then no future
contributions would be needed to provide all future service benefits for all members,
including future service and salary increases for active members.

• Actuarial Cost Method: allocates a portion of the total cost (PVB) to each year of
service, both past service and future service.

• Normal Cost (NC): the cost allocated under the Actuarial Cost Method to each year of
active member service.

• Entry Age Actuarial Cost Method: A funding method that calculates the Normal Cost
as a level percentage of pay over the expected working lifetime of the plan’s members.

• Actuarial Accrued Liability (AAL): the value at a particular point in time of all past
Normal Costs. This is the amount of assets the plan would have today if the current plan
provisions, actuarial assumptions and participant data had always been in effect,
contributions equal to the Normal Cost had been made and all actuarial assumptions
came true. Note that for inactive members the AAL equals the entire PVB.

• Market Value of Assets: the fair value of assets of the plan as reported in the plan’s
audited financial statements.

• Actuarial Value of Assets (AVA) or smoothed value: a market-related value of the
plan assets for determining contribution requirements. The AVA tracks the market value
of assets over time, smoothes out short term fluctuations in market values and produces a
smoother pattern of UAALs and contributions than would result from using market value.

• Valuation Value of Assets (VVA): the value of assets used in the actuarial valuation to
determine contribution rate requirements. It is equal to the Actuarial Value of Assets
reduced by the value of any non-valuation reserves.

• Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability (UAAL): the positive difference, if any,
between the AAL and the VVA.

• Surplus: the positive difference, if any, between the VVA and the AAL.

• Actuarial Value Funded Ratio: the ratio of the VVA to the AAL.

• Market Value Funded Ratio: the ratio of the MVA to the AAL.



8 

• Actuarial Gains and Losses: changes in UAAL or surplus due to actual experience
different from what is assumed in the actuarial valuation. For example, if during a given
year the assets earn more than the investment return assumption, the amount of earnings
above the assumption will cause an unexpected reduction in UAAL, or “actuarial gain” as
of the next valuation. These include contribution gains and losses that result from actual
contributions made being greater or less than the level determined under the policy.

• Valuation Date: December 31 of every year.





• 

• 

• 

co[p)y 
RESOLUTION OF THE RETIREMENT BOARD OF THE CONTRA COSTA 
COUNTY EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT ASSOCIATION AUTHORIZING 
CERTAIN ACTIONS RELATING TO THE CONTRA COSTA COUNTY FIRE 
PROTECTION DISTRICT'S LIABILITY TO MAKE CONTRIBUTIONS TO 
THE RETIREMENT ASSOCIATION AND OTHER MA TIERS RELATED 
THERETO 

WHEREAS, the Contra Costa County Employees' Retirement Association 
("CCCERA") is a cost-sharing multiple-employer retirement plan established under the County 
Employees Retirement Law of 1937 (Cal. Gov't Code §§31450, et seq.) (hereinafter "CERL"), 
which is administered by CCCERA's Board of Retirement ("Retirement Board"), and which is 
governed by, and operates under, CERL, the California Constitution, Article XVI, Section 17, 
other applicable law ("Retirement Law"), and its own adopted policies, procedures and 
regulations; and 

WHEREAS, Gov't Code Section 31557(a) authorizes officers and employees of a 
district for which the board of supervisors is the governing body to become a member of a CERL 
retirement association if the district's governing body adopts, by four~fifths vote, a resolution 
providing for the inclusion of the district in the retirement association and if the retirement board, 
by majority vote, consents thereto; and 

WHEREAS, Gov't Code Section 31585 provides that when any district becomes 
a part of the retirement system, the same appropriations and transfers of funds shall be made as 
those required of the county under Article 5 of CERL, and such charges are legal charges against 
the fiJnds of the district; and 

WHEREAS, on December 29, 1964, by Resolution No. 3627, the Board of 
Supervisors of the County of Contra Costa created the Contra Costa County Fire Protection 
Distiict ("District"), as a consolidation of the Central and Mt. Diablo County Fire Protection 
Districts, and provided for the assumption by the District of obligations of the prior districts 
under the Retirement Law; and 

WHEREAS, the Retirement Law obligates the District to make contributions to 
CCCERA to fund pension benefits for its employees, which contribution amounts are 
recommended by the Retirement Board, based upon the investigation, valuation, and 
recommendation of CCCERA's independent actuary ("Actuary"); and 

WHEREAS, the Retirement Law permits the Retirement Board to determine the 
District's contributions on the basis of (1) ~ normal contribution rate computed in accordance 
with Gov't Code Section 31454.3; and (2) an amortization of any unfunded actuarial accrued 
liability ("UAAL") over a period not to exceed 30 years; and 

WHEREAS, the Retirement Board is informed that the Board of Directors of the 
District intends to authorize the issuance of a debenture (the "Debenture") to CCCERA 
evidencing the obligation of the District to pay the UAAL component of the District's obligation 
to CCCERA, calculated as of December 31,2004 ("District's UAAL as of December 31,2004"); 
and 

17985,6453576.6 



• 

• 

• 

WHEREAS, upon the Retirement Board's adoption of CCCERA's December 31, 
2004 actuarial valuation on June 22, 2005, the Actuary certified the amount of the District's 
UAAL as of December 31, 2004 in the amount of $124,917,000, as is set forth in Exhibit 1 
hereto; and 

WHEREAS, the District and CCCERA have heretofore entered into an 
agreement, dated as of August 28, 2003 (the "Paulson Agreement"), respecting the payment of 
the District's proportionate share of liability arising from a settlement of the cases of Paulson v. 
Contra Costa County Employees' Retirement Association, Contra Costa Superior Court Case No. 
C-96-02939, and Walden v. Contra Costa County Employees' Retirement Association, Contra 
Costa Superior Court Case No. C-97-02935. A true and correct copy of the Paulson Agreement 
is attached hereto as Exhibit 2. 

WHEREAS, the outstanding principal balance owed by the District to CCCERA 
under the Paulson Agreement is $3,459,368.09 as of September 1, 2004 (the "Paulson 
Obligation"), as is set forth on the payment schedule attached hereto as Exhibit 3; and 

WHEREAS, in accordance with the Settlement Agreement that is referenced in 
the Paulson Agreement, CCCERA and the District may agree to shorten the amortization period 
of the Paulson Obligation to less than 20 years; and 

WHEREAS, the Retirement Board is informed that the Board of Directors of the 
District intends to authorize the issuance of bonds (the "Bonds") for the purpose of redeeming 
the Debenture and prepaying the District's Paulson Obligation, thereby immediately providing 
additional funds to CCCERA for investment; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED: 

1. The Actuary has determined that the amount of the District's UAAL as of 
December 31,2004 is $124,917,000, as is set forth in the Actuary's certification attached hereto 
as Exhibit 1. Based upon the Actuary's determination, the Board hereby finds and declares that 

. the District's payment of that amount on or before July 31, 2005, will satisfy the District's 
portion of the December 31,2004 UAAL as determined by the Actuary. 

2. The District's obligation under the Paulson Agreement as of September 1, 
2004 is $3,459,368.09, as is set forth in the payment schedule attached hereto as Exhibit 3. 
Based upon the Actuary's determination, the Board hereby finds and declares that the District's 
payment of that amount plus simple interest accruing at 8% per annum, calculated per diem from 
September 1, 2004, until the date of prepayment on or before August 31, 2005, will satisfy the 
District's portion of the Paulson Obligation. 

3. The Retirement Board finds that the transactions contemplated by this 
Resolution will result in additional contributions to CCCERA, which may then used by 
CCCERA for the purposes authorized by law. 

4. Upon CCCERA's timely receipt from the District of the amount set forth 
in paragraph 1 above, the subsequent UAAL component of the District's employer contributions 
due to CCCERA for theyears July 1, 2005- June 30, 2006 and July 1, 2006-June 30, 2007, shall 

-2-
17985:6453576.6 



• 

• 

• 

be eliminated, as is set forth on Attachment B of the Actuary's certification attached hereto as 
Exhibit i ("District's Revised Rate Schedule"). The Retirement Administrator is hereby 
authorized to advise the District of the revised rates, as shown on the Revised Rate Schedule, 
upon timely receiptof $124,917,000 from the District. The District remains obligated to make 
all contributions to CCCERA that the Retirement Board subsequently deems necessary, taking 
into consideration the prepayment of $124,917,000 by the District. If CCCERA does not receive 
said $124,917,000 from the District on or before July 31, 2005, in cash or clear funds, the 
District's obligation to pay the District's VAAL as of December 31, 2004 shall not have been 
satisfied. 

5. The Retirement Administrator is hereby authorized and directed to do any 
and all things necessary or advisable in order to effectuate CCCERA's actions as contemplated 
by this Resolution. 

6. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its adoption at a duly 
constituted regular or special meeting called for that purpose. 

Passed, approved and adopted this 7th day of July, 2005. 

ATTEST: 

~ " I \ CJ.-,{ 
By: ______ r __ ;> __ ,~ ___ ~ ______ t ____ __ 

Secretary 

17985:6453576.6 
-3-

CONTRA COSTA COUNTY 
EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT 
ASSOCIATION 



• 

• 

• 

THE SEGAL COMPANY 

120 Montgomery Street Suite 500 San Francisco. CA 94104-4308 

T 415.263.82:00 F 415.263.8290 www.segalcQ.com 

June 22, 2005 

Board of Retirement 
Contra Costa County Employees' Retirement Association 
1355 Willow Way, Suite 22 I 
Concord, CA 94520 

Re: Contra Costa County Fire Protection District
Proposed Pension Obligation Bond Issuance 

Dear Board Members: 

Agenda Item #2 
Exhibit 1 

At the request of the Contra Costa County Fire Protection District (CCCFPD), we have prepared this letter 
with regard to the proposed issuance of Pension Obligation Bonds (POB's) by CCCFPD. 

Since the Contra Costa County Employees' Retirement Association ("CCCERA") is a cost-sharing 
multiple employer plan, there is no Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability ("UAAL") maintained on an 
employer-by-employer basis in our valuation. Instead, each year we develop contributions to fund the 
UAAL strictly according to payroll for each employer. The UAAL that we determine for each participating 
employer is developed consistent with this methodology. Therefore, the liability we calculate for each 
employer is not the exactly the same liability that would be allocated to that employer in the event of a plan 
termination by that employer. 

Based on this methodology, the UAAL ofCCCFPD to CCCERA as of the December 3 1,2004 valuation 
date is estimated to be $124,917,000. An amortization schedule for that UAAL is included as Attachment A 
to this letter. 

If the POB's are issued in July 2005 as planned, the CCCFPD employer contribution rates for fiscal year 
2005-2006 (FY 2006) and fiscal year 2006-2007 (FY 2007) would be reduced to reflect only the normal 
cost portion of the rate. Attachment B provides a summary of the applicable FY 2006 and FY 2007 rates 
from the December 3 1,2003 and December 31,2004 actuarial valuations, respectively, consistent with the 
presen 'on (with regard to subvention) in the December 31, 2004 valuation report. 

DZJ/jc 

Enclosures 

know if you have any questions. 

187185/05337.001 

Benefits, Compensntlon and HR Consulting ATLAlHA 60~:;ror~ CHICAGO ClEVElMIO DEliVER HM~TFORO HOUSTON LOS M:C,ELES 1.1I1mEAP()US 

IlEW ORLF.MIS HEW'(C>RK PHll"OElPrrlll PHOEtUX SAN "RM~GISCO SEAlTLE lOROllTO W:,SHI~IGl'Orl. DC 

, 
Multinational Group 01 Ar.IU,uic$ and Consullilnlr. M.lS1ERO,\t.\ Bf.ReELONA GEI~EV', H!\1..1BURG JOHMW£SBURCi lOi-lOON 1.IELBOUIUlE 

MEXICO cny OSLO PARIS 



" • 

• Attachment A 
Contra Costa County Employees' Retirement Association 

12131/2004 Contra Costa Fire Protection District Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability Amortization Schedule 
Annual Interest Rate: UO% 

Annual Payroll rnflation: 4.25% 
Amortization Period: 18-Y car Fixed (Decreasing) Amortization Period 

Beginning End 
of Year Annual Interest Principal of Year 

Year Balance Payment Paid Paid Balance 
$ 124,917,000 $ 9,536,335 $ 9,530,474 $ 5,860 $ 124,911,140 

2 124,911,140 9,941,629 9,515,648 425,981 124,485,159 
3 124,485,159 10,364,148 9,467,021 897,127 123,588,032 
4 123,588,032 10,804,624 9,380,538 1,424,087 122,163,945 
5 122,163,945 11,263,821 9,251,761 2,012,060 120,151,885 
6 120,151,885 11,742,533 9,075,842 2,666,691 117,485,194 
7 117,485,194 12,241,591 8,847,487 3,394,104 114,091,090 
8 114,091,090 12,761,859 8,560,915 4,200,944 109,890,146 
9 109,890,146 13,304,238 8,209,818 5,094,419 104,795,727 

10 104,795,727 13,869,668 7,787,320 6,082,348 98,713,379 
II 98,713,379 14,459,128 7,285,924 7,173,204 . 91,540,175 
12 91,540,175 15,073,641 6,697,462 8,376,179 83,163,996 
13 83,163,996 15,714,271 6,0l3,040 9,701,231 73,462,765 
14 73,462,765 16,382,128 5,222,974 11,159,154 62,303,611 
15 62,303,611 17,078,368 4,316,726 12,761,642 49,541,969 • 16 49,541,969 17,804,199 3,282,833 14,521,366 35,020,603 
17 35,020,603 18,560,877 2,108,828 16,452,049 18,568,555 
18 18,568,555 19,349,715 781,160 18,568,555 0 

Total $ 250,252,772 $ 125,335,772 $ 124,917,000 

Note: Results may be slightly off due to rounding 

M:ICCCERA.cli\V AL2005ISPECIAL_STUDIESICCFPDI[20 Year CCFPD amort seh 7.9%.xls]Summary 

• *SEGAL 



• Attachment B 
Components of Recommended Employer Contribution Rates 

Contra Costa Fire Protection District - Assuming July 2005 POB Issuance of$124,917,000 
Enhanced 

FY 2005-06 (December 31, 2003 Valuation) IT 2006-07 (December 31, 2004 Valuation) 
Nonna) Narmnl 

Cost + UAAL Totru Cost + UAAL Tolal 
General Tier I (Aggregate) 
Basic 13.34% 0.00% 13.34% 13.86% 0.00% 13.86% 
50% Subvention 2.97% 0.00% 2.97% 3.11% 0.00% 3.11% 
Basic + 50% Subvention 16.31% 0.00% 16.31% 16.97% 0.00% 16.97% 

COL 3.95% 0.00% 3.95% 4.01% 0.00% 4.01% 

Tolnl 20.26% 0.00% 20.26% 20.98% 0.00% 20.98% 

Geneml Tier 1 (Under $350) 
Basic 9.09% 0.00% 9.09% 9.42% 0.00% 9.42% 
50% Subvention 2.03% 0.00% 2.03% 2.11% 0.00% 2.11% 
Basic + 50% Subvention 11.12% 0.00% J 1.12% 11.53% 0.00% 11.53% 
COL 2.69% 0.00% 2.69% 2.72% 0.00% 2.72% 
Total 13.81% 0.00% 13.81% 14.25% 0.00% 14.25% 

Geneml Tier I (Over $350) 
Basic 13.64% 0.00% 13.64% 14.13% 0.00% 14.13% 
50% Subvention 3.04% 0.00% 3.04% 3.17% 0.00% 3.17% 
Basic + 50% Subvention 16.68% 0,00% 16,68% 17.30% 0,00% 17.30% 
COL 4.04% 0.00% 4.04% 4.08% 0.00% 4.08% 
Total 20.72% 0.00% 20.72% ·21.38% 0.00% 21.38% 

.satety 
Basic 22.97% 0.00% 22.97% 23.81% 0.00% 23.81% 
50O/JO% Subvention 4.53% 0.00% 4.53% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 
Basic + 50%/0% Subvention 27.50% 0.00% 27.50% 23.81% 0.00% 23.81% 
COL 6.66% 0.00% 6.66% 6.89% 0.00% 6.89% 
Totru 34.16% 0.00% 34.16% 30.70% 0.00% 30.70% 

General Tier 3 (Aggregate) 
Basic J 1.57% 0.00% 11.57% 12.19% 0.00% 12.19% 
50% Subvention 3.22% 0.00% 3.22% 3.33% 0.00% 3.33% 
Basic + 50% Subvention 14.79% 0.00% 14.79% 15.52% 0.00% 15.52% 
COL 3.20% 0.00% 3.20% 3.33% 0.00% 3.33% 
Total 11.99% 0.00% 17.99% 18.85% 0.00% 18.85% 

General Tier 3 (Under $350) 
Basic 7.85% 0.00% 7.85% 8.33% 0.00% 8.33% 
50% Suhvention 2.18% 0.00'10 2.18% 2.27% 0.00% 2.27% 
Basic + 50% Subvention 10.03% 0.00% 10.03% 10.60% 0.00% 10.60% 
COL 2.16% 0.00% 2.16% 2.27% 0.00% 2.27% 
Toiol 12.19% 0.00% 12.19% 12.87% 0.00% 12.87% 

Geneml Tier 3 (Over $350) 
Basic 11.77% 0.00% 11.77% 12.49% 0.00% 12.4911/0 
50% Suhvention 3.27% 0.00% 3.27% 3.41% 0.00% 3.41% 
Basic + 50% Subvention 15.04% 0.00% 15.04% 15.90% 0.00% 15.90% 
COL 3.25% 0.00% 3.25% 3.41% 0.00% 3.41% 
Totnl 18.29% 0.00% 18.29% 19.31% 0.00% 19.31% 

• M:ICCCERA.c1i\VAL2005\sPECIAL_STUDIESICCFPDI[Revised Rates.xlsJComponent Er' Rate FNPNA 

V 

-rrSEGAL 
, .... "to <> .... " .... P ... 0' ~ 



.-

• 

• 

• 

AGREEMENT TO PAY APPORTIONED SHARE OF 
W ALDENIP AULSON SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT LIABILITY 

Agenda Item #2 
Exhibit 2 

This Agreement is entered into as of the ~ day of August ,2003, by and between 

Contra Costa County Fire Protection District rCCCFPD) ("Employer'') and the Contra Costa County 

Employees' Retirement Association ("CCCERA") (collectively referred to as the "Parties"). 

WHEREAS Employer (or its predecessor) was a participating employer in the Contra 

Costa County Employees' Retirement Association in 1999 and was a party to a class action settlement 

agreement ("Settlement Agreement") that settled the cases of PaulsoJl v. Colltra Costa COl/llty 

Employees' Retirement Association, Contra Costa COlmty Superior Court Case No. C-96-02939, and 

Walden v. Contra Costa COl/llty Employees' Retiremellt Associatioll, Contra Costa County Superior Court 

Case No. C-97-02935, and that was approved by order of the Superior Court filed on October 15,1999; 

and 

WHEREAS pursuant to that Settlement Agreement Employer (or its predecessor) agreed 

to pay its proportionate share of the calculated liabilities arising from the Settlement Agreement which are 

not covered by an initial transfer of $90 million from CCCERA reserves once all member claims had 

been processed and the full cost of the settlement could be calculated; and 

WHEREAS all member claims under the Settlement Agreement have now been 

processed and CCCERA's actuary has now calculated the proportionate share of Employer's liability 

arising from the Settlement Agreement as of December 31, 2002 (the "Valuation Date"); and 

WHEREAS Employer and CCCERA each has the power to enter into and be bound by 

this Agreement and to perform the obligations required by it to be performed hereunder, which 

obligations are fully enforceable by andogainst each Party to tlus Agreement; 

NOW, THEREFORE, Employer and CCCERA agree as follows: 

08/29/03 1 
\\cCCR]S\sYS\sHARED\COMMONIPaulson Lawsuit\Con FireIPaulson or liability payment cootroct CCCFPD.doc 



• 

• 

• 

1. Employer agrees to pay and CCCERA agrees to accept the sum of 

$ ________ determined as of the Valuation Date, together with interest thereon at 8% per 

annum compounded ("Interest"), in full settlement of the Employer's proportionate share of the liability 

apportioned to it pursuant to the Settlement Agreement. 

OR 

1. Employer has elected to pay a lump sum payment of $5 I 9,642 by applying its 

2002-03 overpayment of prepayment of contnbutions to the liability owed and amortize the balance of 

$3,914,020.23 over ~ears, resulting in...12.... !ll1Dual payments of $369,122 due and payable on 

September 1 of each year beginning with September I, 2003 and a final payment of $369,115.47 due 

and payable on September I, 2022, with Interest due on any overdne payment, which amortization 

CCCERA agrees to accept pursuant to the Settlement Agreement. 

2. CCCERA and Employer understand that any experience gains or losses related to 

CCCERA members affected by the Settlement Agreement and any changes in the assumed rate of 

interest occurring after the Valuation Date will be allocated among all employers then participating. in 

CCCERA in accordance with CCCERA's general procedures for allocating experience gains or losses in 

effect at the time any such post-December 31,2002 experience gains or losses occur and will not affect 

the terms of this agreement. 

3. This Agreement constitutes a single integrated written contract expressing the 

entire agreement between Employer and CCCERA with regard to the payment of Employer's share of its 

proportionate liability arising from the Settlement Agreement, and supercedes all prior or 

contemporaneous written or oral agreements between Employer (or its predecessor) and CCCERA with 

regard to the payment of such liability. CCCERA and Employer expressly acknowledge that there are no 

other agreements, arrangements, or understandings between them with respect to the payment of 

Employer's share of its proportionate liability arising from the Settlement Agreement. 

08/28103 2 
\\CCCR]S\sYs\sHAREDlComman\Paulson Lawsuit\Con Fire\P.u1son er liability payment contract CCCFPD.doc 



• 

• 

• 

4. This Agreement shall inure to the henefit of and shall be binding upon CCCERA 

and Employer and their respective successors and assigns. 

5. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed and interpreted in 

accordance with the laws of the Stale of California as applied to domiciliaries therein. 

6. . This Agreement may be signed in counterparts, each of which shall constitute a 

duplicate original and all of which shall constitute one and the same Agreement. 

7. In the event thai ariy dispute arises between the Parties (or their successors) 

concerning or in any way relating to this Agreement, the Parties expressly agree that they and their 

successors will each bear their own costs or attorney's fees incurred as a result of or arising in connection 

with any such dispute, including any such costs or fees incurred in the course of any legal proceeding 

arising in connection with or necessary to resolve any such dispute, and that neither Party nor its 

successor wiII be entitled to recover any such costs or fees from the other Party or its successor on any 

basis whatsoever. 

8. This Agreement may be modified only by the express written agreement of the 

Parties (or their successors) signed by the authorized representatives of each. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have duly executed and entered into this 

Agreement through their authorized representatives as designated below, as of the date and 

year frrst above written. 

Date: 

Dale: _.-...!.Cf~/8~/...:..OL.} ___ _ 

Tille: _-f:.Jl1)=ad,,' (",/1",1,-,·:..( ::.:71"''4=rz=<::.,.. _____ _ 

0811 1/03 3 
\\CCCR_FS\SYS\SHARED\Common\Paulson LDWsuit\PD1JIson er liability payment contract.doc 



• 

• 

• 

Agenda Item #2 
Exhibit 3 

Consolidated Fire Paulson Liabili!y Pa}!ment Schedule 2003-2022 

Payment Interest Principal Balance 

8/31/03 3,914,020.23 

1 9/1/03 369 ,122.00 ~Q 369,122.00 3,544,898.23 'r/ / 
p, z... ;- 0'1 

2 9/1/04 369.122.00 ~ 283,591.86 85,530.14 3,459,368.09 ~D'>Y 089 

3 9/1/05 369.122.00 276,749.45 92,372.55 3,366,995.54 

4 9/1/06 369.122.00 269,359.64 99,762.36 3,267,233.18 

5 9/1/07 369.122.00 261,378.65 107,743.35 3,159,489.83 

6 9/1/08 369,122.00 252,759.19 116,362.81 3,043,127.02 

7 9/1/09 369,122.00 243,450.16 125,671.84 2,917,455.18 
" 8 9/1/10 369,122.00 233,396.41 135,725.59 2,781,729.60 

9 9/1/11 369.122.00 222,538.37 146,583.63 2,635.145.96 
10 9/1/12 369,122.00 210,811:68 158,310.32 2,476,835.64 

11 9/1/13 369,122.00 198.146.85 170,975.15 2,305,860.49 , 
12 9/1/14 369,122.00 184,468.84 184,653.16 2.121,207.33 
13 9/1/15 369,122.00 169,696.59 199,425.41 1,921,781.92 

14 9/1/16 369,122.00 153,742.55 215,379.45 1,706,402.47 

15 9/1/17 369,122.00 136,512.20 232,609.80 1,473,792.67 

16 9/1/18 .369,122.00 117,903.41 251,218.59 1,222,574.08 

17 9/1/19 369.122.00 97,805.93 271,316.07 951,258.01 

18 9/1/20 369.122.00 76,100.64 293,021.36 658,236.65 

19 9/1/21 369,122.00 52,658.93 316,463.07 341,773.58 
20 9/1/22 369,115.47 27,341.89 341,773.58 (0.00) 

7,382,433.47 3,468,413.24 3,914,020.23 

accounting/paulson payments duelCon Fire payment schedule 2.003-2.02.2..)(15 ppd by Rick Kaehler 8/2.5/03 



 

MEMORANDUM 

_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

1355 Willow Way   Suite 221   Concord   CA    94520    925.521.3960   FAX: 925.521.3969      www.cccera.org 

Date: July 24, 2019   

To: CCCERA Board of Retirement 

From: Gail Strohl, Chief Executive Officer 

Subject: Consider and take possible action to adopt Board of Retirement Resolution 
2019-5, Funding of I.R.C. Section 115 Trust for Other Post Employment Benefits 
for CCCERA employees. 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Background 

At the June 26, 2019 Board meeting, Milliman presented information related to various 
amortization periods for the I.R.C. Section 115 Trust. The Board provided direction to 
change the amortization period and fully fund the actuarially determined contribution in 
10 years. Board of Retirement Resolution 2019-5, Funding of I.R.C. Section 115 Trust 
for Other Post Employment Benefits for CCCERA employees reflects this change.  

Recommendation 

Consider and take possible action to adopt Board of Retirement Resolution 2019-5, 
Funding of I.R.C. Section 115 Trust for Other Post Employment Benefits for CCCERA 
employees. 

sshedd
Text Box
Meeting Date07/24/19Agenda Item#8



BOR Reso. No. 2019-5 

RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF RETIREMENT 
CONTRA COSTA COUNTY EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT ASSOCIATION 

FUNDING OF I.R.C. SECTION 115 TRUST 

FOR OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 

EFFECTIVE JANUARY 23, 2019 
AMENDED JULY 24, 2019 

WHEREAS, Contra Costa County Employees’ Retirement Association (“CCCERA”) is a public 
agency formed pursuant to the County Employees Retirement Law of 1937, Government Code 
Section 31450, et seq.; and 

WHEREAS, CCCERA personnel are employees of CCCERA pursuant to Government Code 
Section 31522.9 which became effective on January 1, 2015; and 

WHEREAS, the Board of Retirement is the governing body of CCCERA with authority to set 
terms and conditions of employment of CCCERA employees (see Government Code Section 
31522.9); and 

WHEREAS, the Board of Retirement established an Internal Revenue Code Section 115 Trust to 
fund other post-employment benefits (“OPEB”) for employees of CCCERA; and 

WHEREAS, CCCERA has engaged an OPEB actuary to determine CCCERA’s annual Actuarially 
Determined Contribution (“ADC”) towards the cost of OPEB, based on biennial actuarial 
valuations in compliance with the Government Accounting Standards Board; and 

WHEREAS, the biennial actuarial valuations shall be prepared in accordance with generally 
recognized and accepted actuarial principles and practices which are consistent with the applicable 
Actuarial Standards of Practice of the American Academy of Actuaries; and 

WHEREAS, the ADC includes the employer’s share of the normal cost for current service and an 
amortization of any unfunded liability; and 

WHEREAS, in the ordinary course, CCCERA intends to fund its employer OPEB contributions 
by making timely ADC contributions into the Section 115 Trust on an annual basis, except in 
exigent circumstances; and 

WHEREAS, the Board of Retirement adopted Resolution No. 2019-1, Funding of I.R.C. Section 
115 Trust for Other Post Employment Benefits on January 23, 2019 to annually fund the ADC on 
an amortization schedule designed to achieve full funding over a 30 year period. 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Retirement will continue to 
appropriate in the annual budget established under Government Code Section 31580.2 for its 
employer ADC contributions to the Section 115 Trust, and to timely fund the cost of OPEB from 
the Section 115 Trust, unless under the prevailing circumstances the Board determines that it is in 



2 

the best interests of CCCERA and its members and beneficiaries not to do so.  The Board of 
Retirement will annually fund the ADC on an amortization schedule designed to achieve full 
funding over a 10 year period.  This Resolution 2019-5 hereby amends and supersedes Resolution 
2019-1.   

THIS RESOLUTION WAS ADOPTED BY THE AFFIRMATIVE VOTE OF THE BOARD OF 
RETIREMENT OF THE CONTRA COSTA COUNTY EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT 
ASSOCIATION THIS 24th DAY OF JULY, 2019. 

AYES: 

NOES:  

ABSTAIN: 

ABSENT: 

____________________________________________ 
Todd Smithey 
Chairperson of the Board of Retirement 

Attest: 

____________________________________________ 
David MacDonald 
Secretary 



MEMORANDUM 

_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

1355 Willow Way   Suite 221   Concord   CA    94520    925.521.3960   FAX: 925.521.3969      www.cccera.org 

Date: July 24, 2019 

To: Board of Retirement 

From: Wrally Dutkiewicz 

Compliance Officer 

Subject: Final Employer Audit Report Dated June 4, 2019 

Contra Costa County Local Area Formation Commission 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

Background: 

Between March and June 2019 an employer audit was performed on Contra Costa County 

Local Area Formation Commission (LAFCO).  An onsite review was performed at the LAFCO 

office on March 5, 2019.  

The employer audit scope items include the following: 

 Accuracy of Payroll Information Provided to CCCERA;

 Salaries In Accordance with Publicly Available Pay Schedules;

 Enrollment of All Eligible Employees;

 Pension Benefit Review;

 Internal Revenue Code 415 Limits;

 Retiree Return to Work Monitoring; and

 Forfeiture of Benefits Earned or Accrued from the Commission of a Felony.

Follow Up Items: 

The final Employer Audit Report was presented to the CCCERA Audit Committee at its June 

26, 2019 meeting. 

The employer does not have any follow-up items. The following item was noted in the final 

audit report: At the time of the on-site visit, LAFCO was not able to provide a current salary 

schedule. During the Interim Audit Check-In meeting on April 26, 2019, LAFCO provided 

CCCERA Compliance with an updated salary schedule which updated the salary ranges for all 

positions effective April 19, 2019 and met the requirements for publicly available pay 

schedules pursuant to  CCCERA’s Policy On Determining “Pensionable Compensation” 

Under PEPRA For Purposes Of Calculating Retirement Benefits [Adopted: 9/10/2014]. 

sshedd
Text Box
Meeting Date07/24/19Agenda Item#9



Employer Audit: 

Contra Costa County 

Local Area Formation 

Commission 

Employer Audit 

Report dated 

6/04/2019 

prepared by: 



Table of Contents 

Audit Transmittal Letter .............................................................................................................. 1 

Background ................................................................................................................................... 3 

Scope............................................................................................................................................... 5 

Observations and Findings .......................................................................................................... 6 

Accuracy of Payroll Information provided to CCCERA .......................................................... 6 

Payroll and Reporting Process and Receivables Review ............................................................ 6 

Input File Review ........................................................................................................................ 7 

Compensation Limits .................................................................................................................. 7 

Payroll Reporting – Pensionable Compensation and Contribution Review ............................... 8 

Salaries in Accordance with Publicly Available Pay Schedule ............................................... 10 

Enrollment of Eligible Employees ............................................................................................. 11 

Pension Benefit Review............................................................................................................... 13 

Review of Pension Benefit Calculations ................................................................................... 13 

Retiree Return to Work Monitoring .......................................................................................... 14 

Forfeiture of Benefits Earned or Accrued From the Commission of a Felony ......................... 14 

Internal Revenue Code Section 415 Compliance ...................................................................... 14 

Follow-Up Items .......................................................................................................................... 15 



Contra Costa County Local Area Formation Commission 

 

 

                                                                                                             P a g e  | 1 
 

 

2019 Employer Audit 

Audit Transmittal Letter 
 

 

 
 

 

  

June 4, 2019 

 

 

Lou Ann Texeira 

Executive Director 

Contra Costa County Local Agency 

Formation Commission 

651 Pine St. 

Sixth Floor 

Martinez, CA 94553  

 

Re: Employer Audit Report –  Contra Cost County Local Agency Formation Commission 

Pensionable Compensation, Contribution and Reporting Audit 

 

 

Dear Ms. Texeira, 

 

 

Enclosed is the employer audit report of the Contra Costa County Local Area Formation 

Commission (LAFCO) pensionable compensation, contribution and reporting audit, conducted 

pursuant to Government Code Section 31543.  I want to thank you and all LAFCO staff for their 

assistance in gathering all the records and documents and making them readily available during 

this audit.  This cooperation was greatly appreciated and allowed for the audit to be completed in 

an efficient manner. 

  

The Employer Audit Report is enclosed for your review. There were no “Follow-Up Items” 

noted for the Commission to address.  

 

This report will be placed on the agenda and will be presented to the CCCERA Board of 

Retirement at its Wednesday June 26, 2019 meeting.  

 



Contra Costa County Local Area Formation Commission 

 

 

                                                                                                             P a g e  | 2 
 

 

2019 Employer Audit 

Should you wish to discuss or have any questions regarding the items reviewed and the 

observations contained within this report, please contact me at 925-521-3960.    

 

Best regards, 

 
Wrally Dutkiewicz 

Compliance Officer 

 

Cc:   Kate Sibley, Executive Assistant, LAFCO 

          

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Contra Costa County Local Area Formation Commission

P a g e  | 3 
 2019 Employer Audit 

Background 

The Contra Costa County Employees’ Retirement Association (CCCERA) is a public employee 

retirement system that was established by Contra Costa County on July 1, 1945, and is 

administered by the Board of Retirement (Board) to provide service retirement, disability, death, 

and survivor benefits for Contra Costa County (County) employees and 16 other participating 

agencies under the California State Government Code, Section 31450, et. seq. (County 

Employees Retirement Law of 1937 or CERL) and the California Public Employees’ Pension 

Reform Act of 2013 (PEPRA).  

CCCERA administers the retirement benefits for the employees of Contra Costa County and 

participating District employers. Participating employers within the CCCERA retirement system 

transmit payroll information and contributions to fund the benefits for their employees.  

CCCERA sets up retirees’ accounts, processes applications, calculates retirement allowances, 

prepares monthly retirement benefit payment rolls, and makes adjustments to retirement benefits 

when needed. 

Retirement allowances are computed in accordance with statute using three factors: years of 

service, age at retirement, and final compensation. For Legacy (pre-PEPRA) members, final 

compensation is defined as the highest average annual compensation earnable (as defined in 

G.C. Section 31461) by a member during the last one or three consecutive years of employment 

depending on the member’s Tier, unless the member elects a different period with a higher 

average. For PEPRA members, final compensation is defined as the highest average annual 

pensionable compensation (as defined in G.C. Section 7522.34) earned by the member during a 

period of 36 consecutive months. 

The employer’s knowledge of the rules relating to membership and payroll reporting facilitates 

the employer in providing CCCERA with appropriate employee information.  Correct 

enrollment of eligible employees and correct reporting of payroll information are necessary for 

the accurate computation of a member’s retirement allowance.  

In 1963, the California Legislature responded to the urban boundary wars, and the problem of 

public finance and service they created, by enacting the Local Agency Formation Commissions 

(LAFCOs). This law established a commission in each county responsible for overseeing most 

forms of local government boundary change, including incorporation, annexations, and special 

district formations. In the interest of more orderly development, LAFCOs were to act as judges 

of boundary disputes among governments and communities.1 

Contra Costa County Local Area Formation Commission (LAFCO) has had two staff members 

during the audit period, the appointed Executive Officer and the Executive Assistant.  



Contra Costa County Local Area Formation Commission 

 

 

                                                                                                             P a g e  | 4 
 

 

2019 Employer Audit 

For fiscal year 2016-2017 LAFCO had budgeted expenditures for salaries and benefits in the 

amount of $406,000 and for fiscal year 2017-2018 it budgeted $403,000. Per CCCERA records, 

LAFCO had two (2) employees in fiscal years 2016-2017 and 2017-2018 with active 

memberships in CCCERA and submitted approximately $17,000 in employee pension 

contributions and $97,000 in employer pension contributions per fiscal year. As of December 

31, 2018, CCCERA had two (2) retirees and beneficiaries on record for LAFCO with a total paid 

benefit amount of approximately $116,000 in 2018. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

                                                           
1 http://contracostalafco.org/ 



Contra Costa County Local Area Formation Commission

P a g e  | 5 
 2019 Employer Audit 

Scope 

The 2013 Pension Reform legislation granted CCCERA the authority under Government Code 

Section 31543 to conduct audits of employers to ensure that employee and payroll information 

used in the calculation of retiree pension benefits is correct and verifiable.  The scope of these 

on-site reviews includes: 

 Correctness of retirement benefits;

 Reportable compensation;

 Enrollment in, and reinstatement to the system (GC 31554);

 Pensionable compensation (GC 31461 and GC 7522.34);

 Determine if employees convicted of certain felonies have forfeited benefits earned or

accrued from the commission of the felony (GC 7522.72(g) and GC 7522.74(g));

 Review MOUs with respect to compensation and salary regulations (i.e. Vacation Sales,

etc.);

 Determine if compensation is paid to enhance a member’s retirement benefit (GC

31461(b)(1) and GC 7522.34(c)(1));

 Evaluate employer’s compliance with restrictions on retirees returning to work (GC

7522.56, I.R.S. bona fide separation and normal retirement age rules).

The on-site review of the Commission was conducted on March 5, 2019.  The review period 

encompassed active employee records for 2016 through 2018 and no retired employee records as 

no employees retired within the audit period. 



Contra Costa County Local Area Formation Commission 

 

 

                                                                                                             P a g e  | 6 
 

 

2019 Employer Audit 

Observations and Findings 
 

Accuracy of Payroll Information provided to CCCERA 

 

  

Payroll and Reporting Process and Receivables Review 

 

Pursuant to Board of Retirement Regulations Section IV: Employer pensionable payroll and 

corresponding pension contributions are to be reported to the retirement system timely and 

accurately. (Contributions And Reporting, 2. Due Dates, 4. Employer Certification). 

 

Due Dates 

Each employer shall report to the Association in a manner and frequency as determined by the 

Board sufficient for the Board to credit contributions and service to each member’s record. 

 

Unless otherwise specified, reports shall be due no later than the tenth of each month for the 

previous month’s payroll and shall be accompanied by member and employer contributions. If 

the tenth of the month falls on a weekend or holiday, the due date shall be the last working day 

before the tenth. Reports, which are unreadable or incorrect, shall not be accepted and shall be 

returned to the employer. (Emphasis added.) 

 

Reports and contributions received after the due date shall be considered late and subject to a 

late reporting penalty equal to: the prime rate in effect on the due date computed on a daily, 

non-compounding basis and applied to the contributions due. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1: Statement of Observation: No exceptions were observed in this section.  

Observation 1: None 

 



Contra Costa County Local Area Formation Commission 

 

 

                                                                                                             P a g e  | 7 
 

 

2019 Employer Audit 

 

Input File Review 

 

Employer Certification 

 

Each payroll and pension contribution report shall include or be accompanied by a certification, 

under penalty of perjury, as to its accuracy. The certification shall be made by a duly authorized 

representative of the employer. (Board of Retirement Regulations Section IV, 4. Employer 

Certification.) 

 

 

Compensation Limits 

 

Federal and state laws place annual limits on the compensation that can be used to determine 

contributions and benefits for CCCERA plan members. 

Legacy Members: 

 The Internal Revenue Code provides for dollar limitations on benefits and contributions 

under qualified retirement plans which are adjusted annually for cost-of-living increases. 

 Members who commenced participation in CCCERA on or after January 1, 1996 are 

subject to the annual federal Internal Revenue Code Section 401(a)(17) compensation 

limit. 

 For CERL benefit formulas (General Tiers 1, 3, Safety Tiers A & C), the 2018 calendar 

year compensation limit was increased by the I.R.S. to $275,000 from $270,000 for 

calendar year 2017. 

 Members who commenced participation in CCCERA prior to January 1, 1996 are not 

subject to the Internal Revenue Code annual compensation limit. 

 

 

 

 

Observation 2: None 

 



Contra Costa County Local Area Formation Commission 

 

 

                                                                                                             P a g e  | 8 
 

 

2019 Employer Audit 

PEPRA Members: 

 For new employees who commenced participation in CCCERA on or after January 1, 

2013 under PEPRA benefit formulas (General Tiers 4,5, Safety Tiers D & E), the 

compensation which exceeds that annual pensionable compensation limit under 

California Government Code Section 7522.10(c) and (d) is not included in determining 

benefits or contributions. 

 The 2018 calendar year PEPRA compensation limits are as follows: 

o For employees enrolled in Social Security – increased to $121,388. 

o For employees not enrolled in Social Security – increased to $145,666. 

 The 2017 calendar year PEPRA compensation limits are as follows: 

o For employees enrolled in Social Security – increased to $118,775. 

o For employees not enrolled in Social Security – increased to $142,530. 

 

Payroll Reporting – Pensionable Compensation and Contribution Review 

 

Compensation Earnable Applicable Law for Legacy Members 

 

"Compensation earnable" does not include, in any case, the following: 

“Payments for additional services rendered outside of normal working hours, whether paid in a 

lump sum or otherwise.” (G.C. § 31461(b)(3).) 

 

Pursuant to CCCERA’s “Compensation Earnable Policy”2, Section III.D. “Compensation 

Earnable” excludes payments for additional services rendered outside of normal working hours.  

 

Pay received for "overtime" is not included in "compensation earnable." To be included, the time 

for which compensation is received: 

(1) must be the normal working hours set forth in the applicable employment agreement; 

(2) must be required by the employer to be worked by the employee (as distinguished from 

voluntarily worked); and  

                                                           
2 https://www.cccera.org/governance-and-policies 

Observation 3: None 

 



Contra Costa County Local Area Formation Commission

P a g e  | 9 
 2019 Employer Audit 

(3) must be ordinarily worked by all others in the same grade or classification at the same rate of 

pay during the FAS period. 

Pay that will be reviewed under these conditions is often described as "standby" and "on-call." 

Employers must report to CCCERA as pensionable only that pay for work that is required of and 

ordinarily served by everyone in the same grade or classification, at the same rate of pay. 

Pensionable Compensation Applicable Law for PEPRA members 

PEPRA defines "pensionable compensation" as follows: 

"Pensionable compensation" of a new member of any public retirement system means the normal 

monthly rate of pay or base pay of the member paid in cash to similarly situated members of the 

same group or class of employment for services rendered on a full-time basis during normal 

working hours, pursuant to publicly available pay schedules. 

Compensation that has been deferred shall be deemed pensionable compensation when earned 

rather than when paid. (Gov. Code Section 7522.34(a) and (b).) 

PEPRA excludes from "pensionable compensation" the following: 

(1) Any compensation determined by the board to have been paid to increase a member's 

retirement benefit under that system. 

(2) Compensation that had previously been provided in kind to the member by the employer or 

paid directly by the employer to a third party other than the retirement system for the benefit 

of the member and which was converted to and received by the member in the form of a 

cash payment. 

(3) Any one-time or ad hoc payments made to a member. 

(4) Severance or any other payment that is granted or awarded to a member in connection with 

or in anticipation of a separation from employment, but is received by the member while 

employed. 

(5) Payments for unused vacation, annual leave, personal leave, sick leave, or compensatory 

time off, however denominated, whether paid in a lump sum or otherwise, regardless of 

when reported or paid. 

(6) Payments for additional services rendered outside of normal working hours, whether paid in 

a lump sum or otherwise. 

(7) Any employer-provided allowance, reimbursement, or payment, including, but not limited 

to, one made for housing, vehicle, or uniforms. 

(8) Compensation for overtime work, other than as defined in Section 207(k) of Title 29 of the 

United States Code [FLSA]. 



Contra Costa County Local Area Formation Commission 

 

 

                                                                                                             P a g e  | 10 
 

 

2019 Employer Audit 

(9) Employer contributions to deferred compensation or defined contribution plans. 

(10) Any bonus paid in addition to the compensation described in subdivision (a) [of G.C. § 

7522.34]. 

(11) Any other form of compensation a public retirement board determines is inconsistent with 

the requirements of subdivision (a) [of G.C. § 7522.34]. 

(12) Any other form of compensation a public retirement board determines should not be 

pensionable compensation. (Gov. Code Section 7522.34(a) and (b).) 

Pursuant to CCCERA’s “Pensionable Compensation Policy”3, Section III: 

 

The CCCERA Board has determined that "Pensionable Compensation" includes "base pay." 

Pensionable compensation does not include any pay other than base pay, in accordance with 

Govt. Code Sections 7522.34(c)(11) and (12). 

 

Pensionable compensation (GC 31461 and 7522.34) is to be reported to the retirement system 

and the corresponding contributions are to be reported to the retirement system. 

 

 

Salaries in Accordance with Publicly Available Pay Schedule 

 

Pursuant to CCCERA’s Policy On Determining “Pensionable Compensation”4 Under PEPRA 

For Purposes Of Calculating Retirement Benefits, a "publicly available pay schedule" must meet 

all of the following requirements: 

 

1. Has been duly approved and adopted by the employer's governing body in accordance 

with requirements of applicable public meetings laws; 

2. Identifies the position title for every employee position; 

3. Shows the pay rate for each identified position, which may be stated as a single amount 

or as multiple amounts within a range; 

4. Indicates the time base, including, but not limited to, whether the time base is hourly 

daily, bi-weekly, monthly, bi-monthly, or annually; 

                                                           
3 https://www.cccera.org/governance-and-policies 
4 https://www.cccera.org/governance-and-policies 

2: Statement of Observation: No exceptions were observed in this section. 

Observation 4: None 

 



Contra Costa County Local Area Formation Commission 

 

 

                                                                                                             P a g e  | 11 
 

 

2019 Employer Audit 

5. Is posted at the office of the employer or immediately accessible and available for public 

review from the employer during normal business hours or posted on the employer's 

internet website; 

6. Indicates an effective date and date of any revisions; 

7. Is retained by the employer and available for public inspection for not less than five 

years; and 

8. Does not reference another document in lieu of disclosing the pay rate. 

 

Enrollment of Eligible Employees 
 

 

1. Exclusion from Membership – By Type of Employment 

 

A. All officers and employees of the County or districts shall be members of the association 

as provided in Article 4 under Sections 31550-31567 of the County Employees’ 

Retirement Law of 1937 (Gov. Code Secs. 31450, et seq. “CERL”), unless excluded from 

membership by this Section. 

 

B. The following employees shall be excluded from membership: 

 

i. Temporary, seasonal or independent contract employees who are employed or re-

employed for temporary service or at certain specified periods each year. 

 

ii. Intermittent or permanent-intermittent employees who are appointed to serve less 

than 80% of the full number of working hours required of regular employees or 

who actually serve less than 80% of such full number of working hours in one 

year as certified by their appointing authority. 

 

3: Statement of Observation: No exceptions were observed in this section. 

Observation 5: At the time of the on-site visit, LAFCO was not able to provide a current 

salary schedule. During the Interim Audit Check-In meeting, LAFCO provided 

CCCERA with an updated salary schedule which updated the salary ranges for all 

positions effective April 19, 2019. 

 

 



Contra Costa County Local Area Formation Commission

P a g e  | 12 
 2019 Employer Audit 

iii. Part-time employees whose service for the County or district is less than fifty (50)

percent of the full number or working hours required of fulltime employees at that

employer.

iv. Project employees, unless the appointing authority certifies that the project is

expected to be of one year or more in duration on a greater than part-time basis.

v. Provisional employees, unless they otherwise meet the requirements for reciprocal

benefits with other retirement systems under Article 15 of CERL.

C. In making its determination regarding an employee’s inclusion in or exclusion from 

membership, the Board will not rely solely upon the term given to the type of 

employment. Rather, the Board will rely upon such additional facts such as the nature of 

the employment, its expected or actual duration, and its relationship to what is considered 

full-time, permanent employment. 

2. Exclusion from Membership – by Compensation

Except as otherwise herein provided, all employees of the County or district who receive 

compensation amounting to less than one-hundred ($100) dollars per month, and in the case of 

employees paid on other than a monthly basis an average of one-hundred ($100) dollars per 

month for the preceding year, including maintenance valued according to the schedule adopted 

by the governing body, are hereby excluded and exempted from membership in the Retirement 

Association. Any member of the Retirement Association whose salary is reduced to an amount 

less than one-hundred ($100) dollars per month shall have the option of continuing or 

discontinuing his/her active membership in the Association. 

2.1 Exclusion from Membership – by Waiver 

Newly hired employees age 60 and older may waive membership as authorized by Gov. Code 

Section 31552. Any such waiver of membership shall be effective only if it is submitted to the 

CCCERA Retirement Chief Executive Officer within 90 days of the employee’s date of hire; 

provided, however, that the Retirement Chief Executive Officer may, in his/her sole and 

reasonable discretion, waive the time limitation if the newly hired employee establishes good 

cause for such a waiver. 



Contra Costa County Local Area Formation Commission 

 

 

                                                                                                             P a g e  | 13 
 

 

2019 Employer Audit 

3. Certifications 

 

Every employee of the County or district within the county whose employees are members of the 

Association shall, upon entry into the Association, complete a sworn statement as provided for in 

Gov. Code Section 31526(b). A certified copy of the member’s birth certificate or other evidence 

of birth may be required by the Board. 

 

It shall be the employer’s responsibility to assure compliance with this section. The Board shall 

assess the employer five hundred ($500) dollars per employee for every month or fraction 

thereof that the required certification is not submitted. The Board shall notify the employer in 

writing of the imposition of assessment at least thirty days before the assessment. 

 

Pension Benefit Review 
 

 

Review of Pension Benefit Calculations 

 

a. Compensation Policies 

i. Policy On Determining “Compensation Earnable Under Assembly Bill 197 

For Purposes Of Calculating Retirement Benefits For “Legacy” (Pre-

PEPRA) Members – Adopted: 9/10/2014; GC 31461; 

ii. Policy On Determining “Pensionable Compensation” Under PEPRA For 

Purposes Of Calculating Retirement Benefits  - Adopted: 9/10/2014; GC 

7522.34; 

iii. Policy Regarding Assessment and Determination Of Compensation 

Enhancements – Adopted 11/1/2012, Amended: 3/8/2017; GC 31461(b)(1) 

and 7522.34(c)(1) 

 

4: Statement of Observation: No exceptions were observed in this section. 

Observation 6: None 

 

Observation 7: None 

 



Contra Costa County Local Area Formation Commission

P a g e  | 14 
 2019 Employer Audit 

Retiree Return to Work Monitoring 

b. Retiree Return to Work Monitoring

i. GC 7522.56 Retired Persons; Service and Employment Restrictions

Forfeiture of Benefits Earned or Accrued From the Commission of a Felony 

c. Felony Forfeiture Monitoring and Notification – GC 7522.72(g) and GC 7522.74(g)

Internal Revenue Code Section 415 Compliance 

As adopted on December 8, 2010 and amended on January 9, 2013 and July 11, 2018. 

Observation 8: None 

Observation 9: None 

Observation 10: None 



Contra Costa County Local Area Formation Commission

P a g e  | 15 
 2019 Employer Audit 

Follow-Up Items 

The following items were noted during the course of the review and require follow-up by the 

Commission and CCCERA: 

The Commission has no follow-up items. 



MEMORANDUM 

_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

1355 Willow Way   Suite 221   Concord   CA    94520    925.521.3960   FAX: 925.521.3969      www.cccera.org 

Date: July 24, 2019 

To: Board of Retirement 

From: Wrally Dutkiewicz 

Compliance Officer 

Subject: Final Employer Audit Report Dated June 13, 2019 

First 5 Contra Costa County Children and Families Commission 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

Background: 

Between March and June 2019 an employer audit was performed on First 5 Contra 

Costa County Children and Families Commission. An onsite review was performed at 

the Commission’s office on March 22, 2019.  

The employer audit scope items include the following: 

 Accuracy of Payroll Information Provided to CCCERA;

 Salaries In Accordance with Publicly Available Pay Schedules;

 Enrollment of All Eligible Employees;

 Pension Benefit Review;

 Internal Revenue Code 415 Limits;

 Retiree Return to Work Monitoring; and

 Forfeiture of Benefits Earned or Accrued from the Commission of a Felony.

Follow Up Items: 

The final Employer Audit Report was presented to the CCCERA Audit Committee at 

its June 26, 2019 meeting. 

The following item was noted in the final audit report: The Commission’s 

salary schedule did not meet the requirements for publicly available pay 

schedules pursuant to  CCCERA’s Policy On Determining “Pensionable 

sshedd
Text Box
Meeting Date07/24/19Agenda Item#10



Final Employer Audit Report  

Dated June 13, 2019 

First 5 Contra Costa County 

Children and Families Commission 

BOR Meeting July 24, 2019 

Page 2 of 2 

_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

1355 Willow Way   Suite 221   Concord   CA    94520    925.521.3960   FAX: 925.521.3969      www.cccera.org 

Compensation” Under PEPRA For Purposes Of Calculating Retirement 

Benefits [Adopted: 9/10/2014]. The Commission continued to dialogue with 

CCCERA Compliance during the course of the audit and provided a written 

response dated June 12, 2019 stating its concurrence with the audit observation 

and publicly available salary schedule follow up item.  In its response the 

Commission stated that the updated publicly available pay schedule will go 

before its governing board for adoption at its December 9, 2019 meeting.   

Pursuant guidance received from the CCCERA Audit Committee at its June 26, 

2019 meeting, CCCERA Compliance sent a follow up letter dated July 3, 2019 

to the Commission requesting clarification for delaying until December 2019 to 

bring its publicly available salary schedule into compliance.   



Employer Audit: 

First 5 Contra Costa 

Children and Families 
Commission 

Employer Audit 
Report dated 
6/13/2019 
prepared by: 



Table of Contents 

Audit Transmittal Letter .............................................................................................................. 1 

Background ................................................................................................................................... 3 

Scope............................................................................................................................................... 5 

Observations and Findings .......................................................................................................... 6 

Accuracy of Payroll Information provided to CCCERA .......................................................... 6 
Payroll and Reporting Process and Receivables Review ............................................................ 6 
Input File Review ........................................................................................................................ 7 
Compensation Limits .................................................................................................................. 7 
Payroll Reporting – Pensionable Compensation and Contribution Review ............................... 8 

Salaries in Accordance with Publicly Available Pay Schedule ............................................... 10 

Enrollment of Eligible Employees ............................................................................................. 11 

Pension Benefit Review............................................................................................................... 13 
Review of Pension Benefit Calculations ................................................................................... 13 
Retiree Return to Work Monitoring .......................................................................................... 14 
Forfeiture of Benefits Earned or Accrued From the Commission of a Felony ......................... 14 
Internal Revenue Code Section 415 Compliance ...................................................................... 14 

Follow-Up Items .......................................................................................................................... 15 



First 5 Contra Costa Children and Families Commission 

 

                                                                                                             P a g e  | 1 
 

 

2019 Employer Audit 

Audit Transmittal Letter 
 
 

 
 
 
  
June 13, 2019 
 
Sean Casey 
Executive Director 
First 5 Contra Costa  
Children and Families Commission 
1485 Civic Court 
Suite 1200 
Concord, CA 94520 
 
Re: Employer Audit Report –  First 5 Contra Costa Children and Families Commission 
Pensionable Compensation, Contribution and Reporting Audit 
 
 
Dear Mr. Casey, 
 
 
Enclosed is the employer audit report of the First 5 Contra Costa Children and Families 
Commission (First 5) pensionable compensation, contribution and reporting audit, conducted 
pursuant to Government Code Section 31543.  I want to thank you and all First 5 staff for their 
assistance in gathering all the records and documents and making them readily available during 
this audit.  This cooperation was greatly appreciated and allowed for the audit to be completed in 
an efficient manner. 
  
The Employer Audit Report is enclosed for your review. I would direct your attention to the 
“Observations” made under each scope item and the “Follow-Up Items” section of the report.  
CCCERA is in receipt of a written response from First 5 dated June 12, 2019 pertaining to the 
“Follow-Up Items” indicated in the report. This response will be included with the “Final 
Report” which will be submitted to CCCERA’s Audit Committee for its review. 
  
 



First 5 Contra Costa Children and Families Commission 

                 P a g e  | 2 
 2019 Employer Audit 

This report will be placed on the agenda and will be presented to the CCCERA Board of 
Retirement Audit Committee at its Wednesday June 26, 2019 meeting.  

In addition, I would like to extend my gratitude to First 5 payroll and human resources staff and 
the courtesy that they extended to CCCERA compliance staff during the review. Should you 
wish to discuss or have any questions regarding the items reviewed and the observations 
contained within this report, please contact me at 925-521-3960.    

Best regards, 

Wrally Dutkiewicz 
Compliance Officer 

Cc:   Marnie Huddleston, Finance and Operations Director, First 5 
        Shawn Garcia, Administrative Manager, First 5 



First 5 Contra Costa Children and Families Commission 

                 P a g e  | 3 
 2019 Employer Audit 

Background 

The Contra Costa County Employees’ Retirement Association (CCCERA) is a public employee 
retirement system that was established by Contra Costa County on July 1, 1945, and is 
administered by the Board of Retirement (Board) to provide service retirement, disability, death, 
and survivor benefits for Contra Costa County (County) employees and 16 other participating 
agencies under the California State Government Code, Section 31450, et. seq. (County 
Employees Retirement Law of 1937 or CERL) and the California Public Employees’ Pension 
Reform Act of 2013 (PEPRA).  

CCCERA administers the retirement benefits for the employees of Contra Costa County and 
participating District employers. Participating employers within the CCCERA retirement system 
transmit payroll information and contributions to fund the benefits for their employees.  
CCCERA sets up retirees’ accounts, processes applications, calculates retirement allowances, 
prepares monthly retirement benefit payment rolls, and makes adjustments to retirement benefits 
when needed. 

Retirement allowances are computed in accordance with statute using three factors: years of 
service, age at retirement, and final compensation. For Legacy (pre-PEPRA) members, final 
compensation is defined as the highest average annual compensation earnable (as defined in 
G.C. Section 31461) by a member during the last one or three consecutive years of employment 
depending on the member’s Tier, unless the member elects a different period with a higher 
average. For PEPRA members, final compensation is defined as the highest average annual 
pensionable compensation (as defined in G.C. Section 7522.34) earned by the member during a 
period of 36 consecutive months. 

The employer’s knowledge of the rules relating to membership and payroll reporting facilitates 
the employer in providing CCCERA with appropriate employee information.  Correct 
enrollment of eligible employees and correct reporting of payroll information are necessary for 
the accurate computation of a member’s retirement allowance.  

It is First 5’s purpose to help young children start school healthy and ready to learn by investing 
in programs and advocating for policies focused on children during their first five years.1 

Per CCCERA records, First 5 had approximately thirty (30) employees in fiscal years 2016-2017 
and 2017-2018 with active memberships in CCCERA. For these employees First 5 reported 
pensionable compensation to CCCERA of approximately $2,400,000 for fiscal year 2016-2017 
and $2,500,000 for fiscal year 2017-2018. First 5 submitted approximately $270,000 in 
employee pension contributions and $615,000 in employer pension contributions for fiscal year 
2016-2017 and $300,000 in employee pension contributions and $680,000 in employer pension 



First 5 Contra Costa Children and Families Commission 

                 P a g e  | 4 
 2019 Employer Audit 

contributions for fiscal year 2017-2018. As of December 31, 2018, CCCERA had four (4) 
retirees on record for First 5 with a total paid benefit amount of approximately $83,000 in 2018. 

1 http://www.first5coco.org/about-us/faq/ 



First 5 Contra Costa Children and Families Commission 

                 P a g e  | 5 
 2019 Employer Audit 

Scope 

The 2013 Pension Reform legislation granted CCCERA the authority under Government Code 
Section 31543 to conduct audits of employers to ensure that employee and payroll information 
used in the calculation of retiree pension benefits is correct and verifiable.  The scope of these 
on-site reviews includes: 

• Correctness of retirement benefits;

• Reportable compensation;

• Enrollment in, and reinstatement to the system (GC 31554);

• Pensionable compensation (GC 31461 and GC 7522.34);

• Determine if employees convicted of certain felonies have forfeited benefits earned or
accrued from the commission of the felony (GC 7522.72(g) and GC 7522.74(g));

• Review MOUs with respect to compensation and salary regulations (i.e. Vacation Sales,
etc.);

• Determine if compensation is paid to enhance a member’s retirement benefit (GC
31461(b)(1) and GC 7522.34(c)(1));

• Evaluate employer’s compliance with restrictions on retirees returning to work (GC
7522.56, I.R.S. bona fide separation and normal retirement age rules).

The on-site review of the Commission was conducted on March 22, 2019.  The review period 
encompassed active employee records and retired employee records from 2016 through 2018. 



First 5 Contra Costa Children and Families Commission 

                 P a g e  | 6 
 2019 Employer Audit 

Observations and Findings 

Accuracy of Payroll Information provided to CCCERA 

Payroll and Reporting Process and Receivables Review 

Pursuant to Board of Retirement Regulations Section IV: Employer pensionable payroll and 
corresponding pension contributions are to be reported to the retirement system timely and 
accurately. (Contributions And Reporting, 2. Due Dates, 4. Employer Certification). 

Due Dates 
Each employer shall report to the Association in a manner and frequency as determined by the 
Board sufficient for the Board to credit contributions and service to each member’s record. 

Unless otherwise specified, reports shall be due no later than the tenth of each month for the 
previous month’s payroll and shall be accompanied by member and employer contributions. If 
the tenth of the month falls on a weekend or holiday, the due date shall be the last working day 
before the tenth. Reports, which are unreadable or incorrect, shall not be accepted and shall be 
returned to the employer. (Emphasis added.) 

Reports and contributions received after the due date shall be considered late and subject to a 
late reporting penalty equal to: the prime rate in effect on the due date computed on a daily, 
non-compounding basis and applied to the contributions due. 

1: Statement of Observation: No exceptions were observed in this section. 

Observation 1: None 



First 5 Contra Costa Children and Families Commission 

                 P a g e  | 7 
 2019 Employer Audit 

Input File Review 

Employer Certification 

Each payroll and pension contribution report shall include or be accompanied by a certification, 
under penalty of perjury, as to its accuracy. The certification shall be made by a duly authorized 
representative of the employer. (Board of Retirement Regulations Section IV, 4. Employer 
Certification.) 

Compensation Limits 

Federal and state laws place annual limits on the compensation that can be used to determine 
contributions and benefits for CCCERA plan members. 

Legacy Members: 

• The Internal Revenue Code provides for dollar limitations on benefits and contributions
under qualified retirement plans which are adjusted annually for cost-of-living increases.

• Members who commenced participation in CCCERA on or after January 1, 1996 are
subject to the annual federal Internal Revenue Code Section 401(a)(17) compensation
limit.

• For CERL benefit formulas (General Tiers 1, 3, Safety Tiers A & C), the 2018 calendar
year compensation limit was increased by the I.R.S. to $275,000 from $270,000 for
calendar year 2017.

• Members who commenced participation in CCCERA prior to January 1, 1996 are not
subject to the Internal Revenue Code annual compensation limit.

Observation 2: None 



First 5 Contra Costa Children and Families Commission 

                 P a g e  | 8 
 2019 Employer Audit 

PEPRA Members: 

• For new employees who commenced participation in CCCERA on or after January 1,
2013 under PEPRA benefit formulas (General Tiers 4,5, Safety Tiers D & E), the
compensation which exceeds that annual pensionable compensation limit under
California Government Code Section 7522.10(c) and (d) is not included in determining
benefits or contributions.

• The 2018 calendar year PEPRA compensation limits are as follows:
o For employees enrolled in Social Security – increased to $121,388.
o For employees not enrolled in Social Security – increased to $145,666.

• The 2017 calendar year PEPRA compensation limits are as follows:
o For employees enrolled in Social Security – increased to $118,775.
o For employees not enrolled in Social Security – increased to $142,530.

Payroll Reporting – Pensionable Compensation and Contribution Review 

Compensation Earnable Applicable Law for Legacy Members 

"Compensation earnable" does not include, in any case, the following: 
“Payments for additional services rendered outside of normal working hours, whether paid in a 
lump sum or otherwise.” (G.C. § 31461(b)(3).) 

Pursuant to CCCERA’s “Compensation Earnable Policy”2, Section III.D. “Compensation 
Earnable” excludes payments for additional services rendered outside of normal working hours. 

Pay received for "overtime" is not included in "compensation earnable." To be included, the time 
for which compensation is received: 

(1) must be the normal working hours set forth in the applicable employment agreement; 
(2) must be required by the employer to be worked by the employee (as distinguished from 

voluntarily worked); and 

2 https://www.cccera.org/governance-and-policies 

Observation 3: None 



First 5 Contra Costa Children and Families Commission 

                 P a g e  | 9 
 2019 Employer Audit 

(3) must be ordinarily worked by all others in the same grade or classification at the same rate of 
pay during the FAS period. 

Pay that will be reviewed under these conditions is often described as "standby" and "on-call." 
Employers must report to CCCERA as pensionable only that pay for work that is required of and 
ordinarily served by everyone in the same grade or classification, at the same rate of pay. 

Pensionable Compensation Applicable Law for PEPRA members 

PEPRA defines "pensionable compensation" as follows: 

"Pensionable compensation" of a new member of any public retirement system means the normal 
monthly rate of pay or base pay of the member paid in cash to similarly situated members of the 
same group or class of employment for services rendered on a full-time basis during normal 
working hours, pursuant to publicly available pay schedules. 

Compensation that has been deferred shall be deemed pensionable compensation when earned 
rather than when paid. (Gov. Code Section 7522.34(a) and (b).) 

PEPRA excludes from "pensionable compensation" the following: 

(1) Any compensation determined by the board to have been paid to increase a member's 
retirement benefit under that system. 

(2) Compensation that had previously been provided in kind to the member by the employer or 
paid directly by the employer to a third party other than the retirement system for the benefit 
of the member and which was converted to and received by the member in the form of a 
cash payment. 

(3) Any one-time or ad hoc payments made to a member. 
(4) Severance or any other payment that is granted or awarded to a member in connection with 

or in anticipation of a separation from employment, but is received by the member while 
employed. 

(5) Payments for unused vacation, annual leave, personal leave, sick leave, or compensatory 
time off, however denominated, whether paid in a lump sum or otherwise, regardless of 
when reported or paid. 

(6) Payments for additional services rendered outside of normal working hours, whether paid in 
a lump sum or otherwise. 

(7) Any employer-provided allowance, reimbursement, or payment, including, but not limited 
to, one made for housing, vehicle, or uniforms. 

(8) Compensation for overtime work, other than as defined in Section 207(k) of Title 29 of the 
United States Code [FLSA]. 



First 5 Contra Costa Children and Families Commission 

                 P a g e  | 10 
 2019 Employer Audit 

(9) Employer contributions to deferred compensation or defined contribution plans. 
(10) Any bonus paid in addition to the compensation described in subdivision (a) [of G.C. § 

7522.34]. 
(11) Any other form of compensation a public retirement board determines is inconsistent with 

the requirements of subdivision (a) [of G.C. § 7522.34]. 
(12) Any other form of compensation a public retirement board determines should not be 

pensionable compensation. (Gov. Code Section 7522.34(a) and (b).) 

Pursuant to CCCERA’s “Pensionable Compensation Policy”3, Section III: 

The CCCERA Board has determined that "Pensionable Compensation" includes "base pay." 
Pensionable compensation does not include any pay other than base pay, in accordance with 
Govt. Code Sections 7522.34(c)(11) and (12). 

Pensionable compensation (GC 31461 and 7522.34) is to be reported to the retirement system 
and the corresponding contributions are to be reported to the retirement system. 

Salaries in Accordance with Publicly Available Pay Schedule 

Pursuant to CCCERA’s Policy On Determining “Pensionable Compensation”4 Under PEPRA 
For Purposes Of Calculating Retirement Benefits, a "publicly available pay schedule" must meet 
all of the following requirements: 

1. Has been duly approved and adopted by the employer's governing body in accordance
with requirements of applicable public meetings laws;

2. Identifies the position title for every employee position;
3. Shows the pay rate for each identified position, which may be stated as a single amount

or as multiple amounts within a range;

3 https://www.cccera.org/governance-and-policies 
4 https://www.cccera.org/governance-and-policies 

2: Statement of Observation: First 5’s salary schedule does not meet the requirements set 
forth in CCCERA’s Policy On Determining “Pensionable Compensation” Under PEPRA 
For Purposes Of Calculating Retirement Benefits.  

Observation 4: None 



First 5 Contra Costa Children and Families Commission 

                 P a g e  | 11 
 2019 Employer Audit 

4. Indicates the time base, including, but not limited to, whether the time base is hourly
daily, bi-weekly, monthly, bi-monthly, or annually;

5. Is posted at the office of the employer or immediately accessible and available for public
review from the employer during normal business hours or posted on the employer's
internet website;

6. Indicates an effective date and date of any revisions;
7. Is retained by the employer and available for public inspection for not less than five

years; and
8. Does not reference another document in lieu of disclosing the pay rate.

Enrollment of Eligible Employees 

1. Exclusion from Membership – By Type of Employment

A. All officers and employees of the County or districts shall be members of the association 
as provided in Article 4 under Sections 31550-31567 of the County Employees’ 
Retirement Law of 1937 (Gov. Code Secs. 31450, et seq. “CERL”), unless excluded from 
membership by this Section. 

B. The following employees shall be excluded from membership: 

i. Temporary, seasonal or independent contract employees who are employed or re-
employed for temporary service or at certain specified periods each year.

3: Statement of Observation: No exceptions were observed in this section. 

Observation 5: The pay schedule published in First 5’s annual Compensation and 
Benefits Resolution does not identify the position title for every employee position. On 
May 21, 2019 the employer provided CCCERA Compliance staff with an updated list of 
all positions for each of the broad classification categories that the employer has under its 
Compensation and Benefits Resolution. This list is not currently incorporated into the 
Benefits Resolution document and therefore does not meet the above requirements. 
 



First 5 Contra Costa Children and Families Commission 

                 P a g e  | 12 
 2019 Employer Audit 

ii. Intermittent or permanent-intermittent employees who are appointed to serve less
than 80% of the full number of working hours required of regular employees or
who actually serve less than 80% of such full number of working hours in one
year as certified by their appointing authority.

iii. Part-time employees whose service for the County or district is less than fifty (50)
percent of the full number or working hours required of fulltime employees at that
employer.

iv. Project employees, unless the appointing authority certifies that the project is
expected to be of one year or more in duration on a greater than part-time basis.

v. Provisional employees, unless they otherwise meet the requirements for reciprocal
benefits with other retirement systems under Article 15 of CERL.

C. In making its determination regarding an employee’s inclusion in or exclusion from 
membership, the Board will not rely solely upon the term given to the type of 
employment. Rather, the Board will rely upon such additional facts such as the nature of 
the employment, its expected or actual duration, and its relationship to what is considered 
full-time, permanent employment. 

2. Exclusion from Membership – by Compensation

Except as otherwise herein provided, all employees of the County or district who receive 
compensation amounting to less than one-hundred ($100) dollars per month, and in the case of 
employees paid on other than a monthly basis an average of one-hundred ($100) dollars per 
month for the preceding year, including maintenance valued according to the schedule adopted 
by the governing body, are hereby excluded and exempted from membership in the Retirement 
Association. Any member of the Retirement Association whose salary is reduced to an amount 
less than one-hundred ($100) dollars per month shall have the option of continuing or 
discontinuing his/her active membership in the Association. 

2.1 Exclusion from Membership – by Waiver 

Newly hired employees age 60 and older may waive membership as authorized by Gov. Code 
Section 31552. Any such waiver of membership shall be effective only if it is submitted to the 
CCCERA Retirement Chief Executive Officer within 90 days of the employee’s date of hire; 
provided, however, that the Retirement Chief Executive Officer may, in his/her sole and 
reasonable discretion, waive the time limitation if the newly hired employee establishes good 
cause for such a waiver. 



First 5 Contra Costa Children and Families Commission 

                 P a g e  | 13 
 2019 Employer Audit 

3. Certifications

Every employee of the County or district within the county whose employees are members of the 
Association shall, upon entry into the Association, complete a sworn statement as provided for in 
Gov. Code Section 31526(b). A certified copy of the member’s birth certificate or other evidence 
of birth may be required by the Board. 

It shall be the employer’s responsibility to assure compliance with this section. The Board shall 
assess the employer five hundred ($500) dollars per employee for every month or fraction 
thereof that the required certification is not submitted. The Board shall notify the employer in 
writing of the imposition of assessment at least thirty days before the assessment. 

Pension Benefit Review 

Review of Pension Benefit Calculations 

a. Compensation Policies
i. Policy On Determining “Compensation Earnable Under Assembly Bill 197

For Purposes Of Calculating Retirement Benefits For “Legacy” (Pre-
PEPRA) Members – Adopted: 9/10/2014; GC 31461;

ii. Policy On Determining “Pensionable Compensation” Under PEPRA For
Purposes Of Calculating Retirement Benefits  - Adopted: 9/10/2014; GC
7522.34;

iii. Policy Regarding Assessment and Determination Of Compensation
Enhancements – Adopted 11/1/2012, Amended: 3/8/2017; GC 31461(b)(1)
and 7522.34(c)(1)

4: Statement of Observation: No exceptions were observed in this section. 

Observation 6: None 

Observation 7: None 



First 5 Contra Costa Children and Families Commission 

                 P a g e  | 14 
 2019 Employer Audit 

Retiree Return to Work Monitoring 

b. Retiree Return to Work Monitoring
i. GC 7522.56 Retired Persons; Service and Employment Restrictions

Forfeiture of Benefits Earned or Accrued From the Commission of a Felony 

c. Felony Forfeiture Monitoring and Notification – GC 7522.72(g) and GC 7522.74(g)

Internal Revenue Code Section 415 Compliance 

As adopted on December 8, 2010 and amended on January 9, 2013 and July 11, 2018. 

Observation 8: None 

Observation 9: None 

Observation 10: None 



First 5 Contra Costa Children and Families Commission 

                 P a g e  | 15 
 2019 Employer Audit 

Follow-Up Items 

The following items were noted during the course of the review and require follow-up by the 
Commission and CCCERA: 

1) Publicly Available Pay Schedule: In order to be in compliance with CCCERA
policy, the Commission will need to provide a publicly available pay schedule that
meets the requirements of CCCERA’s Policy On Determining “Pensionable
Compensation” Under PEPRA For Purposes Of Calculating Retirement Benefits.









MEMORANDUM 

_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

1355 Willow Way   Suite 221   Concord   CA    94520    925.521.3960   FAX: 925.521.3969      www.cccera.org 

Date: July 24, 2019 

To: Board of Retirement 

From: Wrally Dutkiewicz 

Compliance Officer 

Subject: Final Employer Audit Report Dated June 18, 2019 

Contra Costa In-Home Supportive Services Public Authority 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

Background: 

Between March and June 2019 an employer audit was performed on Contra Costa In-

Home Supportive Services Public Authority. The Public Authority’s governing body is 

Contra Costa County and it contracts with Contra Costa County Employment and 

Human Services Department (EHSD) to provide payroll and human resources 

administration services. EHSD acted as the audit respondent on behalf of the Public 

Authority. An onsite review was performed at the EHSD’s office on March 20, 2019.  

The employer audit scope items include the following: 

 Accuracy of Payroll Information Provided to CCCERA;

 Salaries In Accordance with Publicly Available Pay Schedules;

 Enrollment of All Eligible Employees;

 Pension Benefit Review;

 Internal Revenue Code 415 Limits;

 Retiree Return to Work Monitoring; and

 Forfeiture of Benefits Earned or Accrued from the Commission of a Felony.

Follow Up Items: 

The final Employer Audit Report was presented to the CCCERA Audit Committee at 

its June 26, 2019 meeting. 

sshedd
Text Box
Meeting Date07/24/19Agenda Item#11



Final Employer Audit Report 

Dated June 18, 2019 

Contra Costa In-Home 

Supportive Services 

Public Authority 

BOR Meeting July 24, 2019 

Page 2 of 2 

_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

1355 Willow Way   Suite 221   Concord   CA    94520    925.521.3960   FAX: 925.521.3969      www.cccera.org 

The following item was noted in the final audit report: At the time of the on-site visit, 

on March 20, 2019 the IHSS Public Authority was not able to provide a current salary 

schedule as it had not published one. During the audit the requirements for publicly 

available pay schedules pursuant to CCCERA’s Policy On Determining “Pensionable 

Compensation Under PEPRA For Purposes Of Calculating Retirement Benefits 

[Adopted: 9/10/2014] were discussed in multiple communications. The Public 

Authority continued to coordinate with its governing body and updated CCCERA 

compliance on its progress towards its remedial plan to come into compliance with the 

policy requirement. During the audit exit conference with the Public Authority on June 

13, 2019 the publicly available salary schedule requirements were discussed and the 

employer presented its remedial plan.  Subsequent to the audit exit conference, on June 

14, 2019 the publicly available salary schedules for the Public Authority were 

published by Contra Costa County, the governing body of the Public Authority.  

CCCERA Compliance received a written response dated June 17, 2019 from the 

Executive Director of EHSD, the delegated audit respondent by the Public Authority’s 

governing body.  The letter affirms that the publicly available pay schedules were 

compiled with the coordination of the County Human Resources Department and 

published and made publicly available on June 14, 2019. 

Upon receipt the Public Authority’s response, CCCERA Compliance reviewed the 

published publicly available pay schedules and acknowledged by return 

communication on June 19, 2019 the Public Authority’s compliance with CCCERA’s 

policy in most respects except for the following which are outstanding follow-up items: 

I. The publicly available salary schedule did not reference previous revision 

dates; 

II. There is no indication the published salary schedule will be retained for five

years going forward;

III. Documentation supporting the adoption of the salary schedule by the Public

Authority’s governing body was not provided.



Employer Audit: 

Contra Costa In-Home 

Supportive Services 

Public Authority 

Employer Audit 

Report dated 

6/18/2019 

prepared by: 



 

 

Table of Contents 

Audit Transmittal Letter .............................................................................................................. 1 

Background ................................................................................................................................... 3 

Scope............................................................................................................................................... 5 

Observations and Findings .......................................................................................................... 6 

Accuracy of Payroll Information provided to CCCERA .......................................................... 6 

Payroll and Reporting Process and Receivables Review ............................................................ 6 

Input File Review ........................................................................................................................ 7 

Compensation Limits .................................................................................................................. 7 

Payroll Reporting – Pensionable Compensation and Contribution Review ............................... 8 

Salaries in Accordance with Publicly Available Pay Schedule ............................................... 10 

Enrollment of Eligible Employees ............................................................................................. 11 

Pension Benefit Review............................................................................................................... 13 

Review of Pension Benefit Calculations ................................................................................... 13 

Retiree Return to Work Monitoring .......................................................................................... 14 

Forfeiture of Benefits Earned or Accrued From the Commission of a Felony ......................... 14 

Internal Revenue Code Section 415 Compliance ...................................................................... 14 

Follow-Up Items .......................................................................................................................... 15 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Contra Costa In-Home Supportive Services Public Authority 

P a g e  | 1 
 2019 Employer Audit 

Audit Transmittal Letter 

June 18, 2019 

Elizabeth Dondi 

Executive Director 

Contra Costa In-Home Supportive 

Services Public Authority 

500 Ellinwood Way 

Suite 110 

Pleasant Hill, CA 94523 

Re: Employer Audit Report –  Contra Costa In-Home Supportive Services Public Authority 

Pensionable Compensation, Contribution and Reporting Audit 

Dear Ms. Dondi, 

Enclosed is the employer audit report of the Contra Costa In-Home Supportive Services Public 

Authority (IHSS) pensionable compensation, contribution and reporting audit, conducted 

pursuant to Government Code Section 31543.  I want to thank you and all IHSS and 

Employment & Human Services Department (EHSD) staff for their assistance in gathering all 

the records and documents and making them readily available during this audit.  This 

cooperation was greatly appreciated and allowed for the audit to be completed in an efficient 

manner. 

The Employer Audit Report is enclosed for your review. I would direct your attention to the 

“Observations” made under each scope item and the “Follow-Up Items” section of the report.  

CCCERA is in receipt of a written response from IHSS dated June 17, 2019 pertaining to the 

“Follow-Up Items” indicated in the report. This response will be included in the “Final Report” 

which will be submitted to CCCERA’s Audit Committee for its review. 



Contra Costa In-Home Supportive Services Public Authority 

P a g e  | 2 
 2019 Employer Audit 

This report will be placed on the agenda and will be presented to the CCCERA Board of 

Retirement Audit Committee at its Wednesday June 26, 2019 meeting.  

In addition, I would like to extend my gratitude to IHSS staff and EHSD payroll and human 

resources staff and the courtesy that they extended to CCCERA compliance staff during the 

review. Should you wish to discuss or have any questions regarding the items reviewed and the 

observations contained within this report, please contact me at 925-521-3960.    

Best regards, 

Wrally Dutkiewicz 

Compliance Officer 

Cc:   Kathy Gallagher, Employment & Human Services Director 

        Mansoorali Hudda, Chief Financial Officer of Contra Costa County Employment & Human  

        Services Department (EHSD) 

        Alicja Hermanson, Departmental Fiscal Officer, EHSD 



Contra Costa In-Home Supportive Services Public Authority 

 

                                                                                                             P a g e  | 3 
 

 

2019 Employer Audit 

Background 
 

The Contra Costa County Employees’ Retirement Association (CCCERA) is a public employee 

retirement system that was established by Contra Costa County on July 1, 1945, and is 

administered by the Board of Retirement (Board) to provide service retirement, disability, death, 

and survivor benefits for Contra Costa County (County) employees and 16 other participating 

agencies under the California State Government Code, Section 31450, et. seq. (County 

Employees Retirement Law of 1937 or CERL) and the California Public Employees’ Pension 

Reform Act of 2013 (PEPRA).  

 

CCCERA administers the retirement benefits for the employees of Contra Costa County and 

participating District employers. Participating employers within the CCCERA retirement system 

transmit payroll information and contributions to fund the benefits for their employees.  

CCCERA sets up retirees’ accounts, processes applications, calculates retirement allowances, 

prepares monthly retirement benefit payment rolls, and makes adjustments to retirement benefits 

when needed. 

 

Retirement allowances are computed in accordance with statute using three factors: years of 

service, age at retirement, and final compensation. For Legacy (pre-PEPRA) members, final 

compensation is defined as the highest average annual compensation earnable (as defined in 

G.C. Section 31461) by a member during the last one or three consecutive years of employment 

depending on the member’s Tier, unless the member elects a different period with a higher 

average. For PEPRA members, final compensation is defined as the highest average annual 

pensionable compensation (as defined in G.C. Section 7522.34) earned by the member during a 

period of 36 consecutive months. 

 

The employer’s knowledge of the rules relating to membership and payroll reporting facilitates 

the employer in providing CCCERA with appropriate employee information.  Correct 

enrollment of eligible employees and correct reporting of payroll information are necessary for 

the accurate computation of a member’s retirement allowance.  

 

In-Home Supportive Services (IHSS) Public Authority is a home care program which helps to 

pay for services to eligible aged, blind and disabled individuals who are unable to remain safely 

in their own homes without assistance. Disabled children are also potentially eligible for IHSS. 

IHSS is an alternative to out-of-home care such as skilled nursing facilities, assisted living or 

board and care facilities.1 

 

Per CCCERA records, IHSS had approximately fifteen (15) employees in fiscal years 2016-2017 

and 2017-2018 with active memberships in CCCERA. For these employees IHSS reported 

pensionable compensation to CCCERA of approximately $820,000 for fiscal year 2016-2017 

and $870,000 for fiscal year 2017-2018. IHSS submitted approximately $82,000 in employee 



Contra Costa In-Home Supportive Services Public Authority 

 

                                                                                                             P a g e  | 4 
 

 

2019 Employer Audit 

pension contributions and $311,000 in employer pension contributions for fiscal year 2016-2017 

and $92,000 in employee pension contributions and $325,000 in employer pension contributions 

for fiscal year 2017-2018. As of December 31, 2018, CCCERA had thirteen (13) retirees on 

record for IHSS with a total paid benefit amount of approximately $480,000 in 2018. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                           
1 https://ehsd.org/elderly-disabled/in-home-supportive-services-ihss/ 



Contra Costa In-Home Supportive Services Public Authority 

 

                                                                                                             P a g e  | 5 
 

 

2019 Employer Audit 

Scope 
 

The 2013 Pension Reform legislation granted CCCERA the authority under Government Code 

Section 31543 to conduct audits of employers to ensure that employee and payroll information 

used in the calculation of retiree pension benefits is correct and verifiable.  The scope of these 

on-site reviews includes: 

 

 Correctness of retirement benefits; 

 Reportable compensation; 

 Enrollment in, and reinstatement to the system (GC 31554); 

 Pensionable compensation (GC 31461 and GC 7522.34); 

 Determine if employees convicted of certain felonies have forfeited benefits earned or 

accrued from the commission of the felony (GC 7522.72(g) and GC 7522.74(g)); 

 Review MOUs with respect to compensation and salary regulations (i.e. Vacation Sales, 

etc.); 

 Determine if compensation is paid to enhance a member’s retirement benefit (GC 

31461(b)(1) and GC 7522.34(c)(1)); 

 Evaluate employer’s compliance with restrictions on retirees returning to work (GC 

7522.56, I.R.S. bona fide separation and normal retirement age rules). 

The on-site review of the Public Authority was conducted on March 20, 2019.  The review 

period encompassed active employee records and retired employee records from 2016 through 

2018. 

 

 

 

 

 



Contra Costa In-Home Supportive Services Public Authority 

P a g e  | 6 
 2019 Employer Audit 

Observations and Findings 

Accuracy of Payroll Information provided to CCCERA 

Payroll and Reporting Process and Receivables Review 

Pursuant to Board of Retirement Regulations Section IV: Employer pensionable payroll and 

corresponding pension contributions are to be reported to the retirement system timely and 

accurately. (Contributions And Reporting, 2. Due Dates, 4. Employer Certification). 

Due Dates 

Each employer shall report to the Association in a manner and frequency as determined by the 

Board sufficient for the Board to credit contributions and service to each member’s record. 

Unless otherwise specified, reports shall be due no later than the tenth of each month for the 

previous month’s payroll and shall be accompanied by member and employer contributions. If 

the tenth of the month falls on a weekend or holiday, the due date shall be the last working day 

before the tenth. Reports, which are unreadable or incorrect, shall not be accepted and shall be 

returned to the employer. (Emphasis added.) 

Reports and contributions received after the due date shall be considered late and subject to a 

late reporting penalty equal to: the prime rate in effect on the due date computed on a daily, 

non-compounding basis and applied to the contributions due. 

1: Statement of Observation: No exceptions were observed in this section. 

Observation 1: None 



Contra Costa In-Home Supportive Services Public Authority 

 

                                                                                                             P a g e  | 7 
 

 

2019 Employer Audit 

 

Input File Review 

 

Employer Certification 

 

Each payroll and pension contribution report shall include or be accompanied by a certification, 

under penalty of perjury, as to its accuracy. The certification shall be made by a duly authorized 

representative of the employer. (Board of Retirement Regulations Section IV, 4. Employer 

Certification.) 

 

 

Compensation Limits 

 

Federal and state laws place annual limits on the compensation that can be used to determine 

contributions and benefits for CCCERA plan members. 

Legacy Members: 

 The Internal Revenue Code provides for dollar limitations on benefits and contributions 

under qualified retirement plans which are adjusted annually for cost-of-living increases. 

 Members who commenced participation in CCCERA on or after January 1, 1996 are 

subject to the annual federal Internal Revenue Code Section 401(a)(17) compensation 

limit. 

 For CERL benefit formulas (General Tiers 1, 3, Safety Tiers A & C), the 2018 calendar 

year compensation limit was increased by the I.R.S. to $275,000 from $270,000 for 

calendar year 2017. 

 Members who commenced participation in CCCERA prior to January 1, 1996 are not 

subject to the Internal Revenue Code annual compensation limit. 

 

 

 

 

Observation 2: None 

 



Contra Costa In-Home Supportive Services Public Authority 

 

                                                                                                             P a g e  | 8 
 

 

2019 Employer Audit 

PEPRA Members: 

 For new employees who commenced participation in CCCERA on or after January 1, 

2013 under PEPRA benefit formulas (General Tiers 4,5, Safety Tiers D & E), the 

compensation which exceeds that annual pensionable compensation limit under 

California Government Code Section 7522.10(c) and (d) is not included in determining 

benefits or contributions. 

 The 2018 calendar year PEPRA compensation limits are as follows: 

o For employees enrolled in Social Security – increased to $121,388. 

o For employees not enrolled in Social Security – increased to $145,666. 

 The 2017 calendar year PEPRA compensation limits are as follows: 

o For employees enrolled in Social Security – increased to $118,775. 

o For employees not enrolled in Social Security – increased to $142,530. 

 

Payroll Reporting – Pensionable Compensation and Contribution Review 

 

Compensation Earnable Applicable Law for Legacy Members 

 

"Compensation earnable" does not include, in any case, the following: 

“Payments for additional services rendered outside of normal working hours, whether paid in a 

lump sum or otherwise.” (G.C. § 31461(b)(3).) 

 

Pursuant to CCCERA’s “Compensation Earnable Policy”2, Section III.D. “Compensation 

Earnable” excludes payments for additional services rendered outside of normal working hours.  

 

Pay received for "overtime" is not included in "compensation earnable." To be included, the time 

for which compensation is received: 

(1) must be the normal working hours set forth in the applicable employment agreement; 

(2) must be required by the employer to be worked by the employee (as distinguished from 

voluntarily worked); and  

                                                           
2 https://www.cccera.org/governance-and-policies 

Observation 3: None 

 



Contra Costa In-Home Supportive Services Public Authority 

 

                                                                                                             P a g e  | 9 
 

 

2019 Employer Audit 

(3) must be ordinarily worked by all others in the same grade or classification at the same rate of 

pay during the FAS period.  

Pay that will be reviewed under these conditions is often described as "standby" and "on-call." 

Employers must report to CCCERA as pensionable only that pay for work that is required of and 

ordinarily served by everyone in the same grade or classification, at the same rate of pay. 

 

Pensionable Compensation Applicable Law for PEPRA members 

 

PEPRA defines "pensionable compensation" as follows: 

 

"Pensionable compensation" of a new member of any public retirement system means the normal 

monthly rate of pay or base pay of the member paid in cash to similarly situated members of the 

same group or class of employment for services rendered on a full-time basis during normal 

working hours, pursuant to publicly available pay schedules. 

 

Compensation that has been deferred shall be deemed pensionable compensation when earned 

rather than when paid. (Gov. Code Section 7522.34(a) and (b).) 

 

PEPRA excludes from "pensionable compensation" the following: 

 

(1) Any compensation determined by the board to have been paid to increase a member's 

retirement benefit under that system. 

(2) Compensation that had previously been provided in kind to the member by the employer or 

paid directly by the employer to a third party other than the retirement system for the benefit 

of the member and which was converted to and received by the member in the form of a 

cash payment. 

(3) Any one-time or ad hoc payments made to a member. 

(4) Severance or any other payment that is granted or awarded to a member in connection with 

or in anticipation of a separation from employment, but is received by the member while 

employed. 

(5) Payments for unused vacation, annual leave, personal leave, sick leave, or compensatory 

time off, however denominated, whether paid in a lump sum or otherwise, regardless of 

when reported or paid. 

(6) Payments for additional services rendered outside of normal working hours, whether paid in 

a lump sum or otherwise. 

(7) Any employer-provided allowance, reimbursement, or payment, including, but not limited 

to, one made for housing, vehicle, or uniforms. 

(8) Compensation for overtime work, other than as defined in Section 207(k) of Title 29 of the 

United States Code [FLSA]. 



Contra Costa In-Home Supportive Services Public Authority 

P a g e  | 10 
 2019 Employer Audit 

(9) Employer contributions to deferred compensation or defined contribution plans. 

(10) Any bonus paid in addition to the compensation described in subdivision (a) [of G.C. § 

7522.34]. 

(11) Any other form of compensation a public retirement board determines is inconsistent with 

the requirements of subdivision (a) [of G.C. § 7522.34]. 

(12) Any other form of compensation a public retirement board determines should not be 

pensionable compensation. (Gov. Code Section 7522.34(a) and (b).) 

Pursuant to CCCERA’s “Pensionable Compensation Policy”3, Section III: 

The CCCERA Board has determined that "Pensionable Compensation" includes "base pay." 

Pensionable compensation does not include any pay other than base pay, in accordance with 

Govt. Code Sections 7522.34(c)(11) and (12). 

Pensionable compensation (GC 31461 and 7522.34) is to be reported to the retirement system 

and the corresponding contributions are to be reported to the retirement system. 

Salaries in Accordance with Publicly Available Pay Schedule 

Pursuant to CCCERA’s Policy On Determining “Pensionable Compensation”4 Under PEPRA 

For Purposes Of Calculating Retirement Benefits, a "publicly available pay schedule" must meet 

all of the following requirements: 

1. Has been duly approved and adopted by the employer's governing body in accordance

with requirements of applicable public meetings laws;

2. Identifies the position title for every employee position;

3 https://www.cccera.org/governance-and-policies 
4 https://www.cccera.org/governance-and-policies 

2: Statement of Observation: IHSS could not provide a pay schedule to CCCERA as it 

did not publish one. This does not meet the requirements set forth in CCCERA’s Policy 

On Determining “Pensionable Compensation” Under PEPRA For Purposes Of 

Calculating Retirement Benefits. 

Observation 4: None 



Contra Costa In-Home Supportive Services Public Authority 

 

                                                                                                             P a g e  | 11 
 

 

2019 Employer Audit 

3. Shows the pay rate for each identified position, which may be stated as a single amount 

or as multiple amounts within a range; 

4. Indicates the time base, including, but not limited to, whether the time base is hourly 

daily, bi-weekly, monthly, bi-monthly, or annually; 

5. Is posted at the office of the employer or immediately accessible and available for public 

review from the employer during normal business hours or posted on the employer's 

internet website; 

6. Indicates an effective date and date of any revisions; 

7. Is retained by the employer and available for public inspection for not less than five 

years; and 

8. Does not reference another document in lieu of disclosing the pay rate. 

 

 

Enrollment of Eligible Employees 
 

 

1. Exclusion from Membership – By Type of Employment 

 

A. All officers and employees of the County or districts shall be members of the association 

as provided in Article 4 under Sections 31550-31567 of the County Employees’ 

Retirement Law of 1937 (Gov. Code Secs. 31450, et seq. “CERL”), unless excluded from 

membership by this Section. 

 

B. The following employees shall be excluded from membership: 

 

i. Temporary, seasonal or independent contract employees who are employed or re-

employed for temporary service or at certain specified periods each year. 

 

ii. Intermittent or permanent-intermittent employees who are appointed to serve less 

than 80% of the full number of working hours required of regular employees or 

3: Statement of Observation: No exceptions were observed in this section. 

Observation 5: No pay schedule was available to perform the salaries review. 

Alternatively, CCCERA utilized PeopleSoft salary history to perform the review. 

 

 



Contra Costa In-Home Supportive Services Public Authority 

P a g e  | 12 
 2019 Employer Audit 

who actually serve less than 80% of such full number of working hours in one 

year as certified by their appointing authority. 

iii. Part-time employees whose service for the County or district is less than fifty (50)

percent of the full number or working hours required of fulltime employees at that

employer.

iv. Project employees, unless the appointing authority certifies that the project is

expected to be of one year or more in duration on a greater than part-time basis.

v. Provisional employees, unless they otherwise meet the requirements for reciprocal

benefits with other retirement systems under Article 15 of CERL.

C. In making its determination regarding an employee’s inclusion in or exclusion from 

membership, the Board will not rely solely upon the term given to the type of 

employment. Rather, the Board will rely upon such additional facts such as the nature of 

the employment, its expected or actual duration, and its relationship to what is considered 

full-time, permanent employment. 

2. Exclusion from Membership – by Compensation

Except as otherwise herein provided, all employees of the County or district who receive 

compensation amounting to less than one-hundred ($100) dollars per month, and in the case of 

employees paid on other than a monthly basis an average of one-hundred ($100) dollars per 

month for the preceding year, including maintenance valued according to the schedule adopted 

by the governing body, are hereby excluded and exempted from membership in the Retirement 

Association. Any member of the Retirement Association whose salary is reduced to an amount 

less than one-hundred ($100) dollars per month shall have the option of continuing or 

discontinuing his/her active membership in the Association. 

2.1 Exclusion from Membership – by Waiver 

Newly hired employees age 60 and older may waive membership as authorized by Gov. Code 

Section 31552. Any such waiver of membership shall be effective only if it is submitted to the 

CCCERA Retirement Chief Executive Officer within 90 days of the employee’s date of hire; 

provided, however, that the Retirement Chief Executive Officer may, in his/her sole and 

reasonable discretion, waive the time limitation if the newly hired employee establishes good 

cause for such a waiver. 



Contra Costa In-Home Supportive Services Public Authority 

P a g e  | 13 
 2019 Employer Audit 

3. Certifications

Every employee of the County or district within the county whose employees are members of the 

Association shall, upon entry into the Association, complete a sworn statement as provided for in 

Gov. Code Section 31526(b). A certified copy of the member’s birth certificate or other evidence 

of birth may be required by the Board. 

It shall be the employer’s responsibility to assure compliance with this section. The Board shall 

assess the employer five hundred ($500) dollars per employee for every month or fraction 

thereof that the required certification is not submitted. The Board shall notify the employer in 

writing of the imposition of assessment at least thirty days before the assessment. 

Pension Benefit Review 

Review of Pension Benefit Calculations 

a. Compensation Policies

i. Policy On Determining “Compensation Earnable Under Assembly Bill 197

For Purposes Of Calculating Retirement Benefits For “Legacy” (Pre-

PEPRA) Members – Adopted: 9/10/2014; GC 31461;

ii. Policy On Determining “Pensionable Compensation” Under PEPRA For

Purposes Of Calculating Retirement Benefits  - Adopted: 9/10/2014; GC

7522.34;

iii. Policy Regarding Assessment and Determination Of Compensation

Enhancements – Adopted 11/1/2012, Amended: 3/8/2017; GC 31461(b)(1)

and 7522.34(c)(1)

4: Statement of Observation: No exceptions were observed in this section. 

Observation 6: None 

Observation 7: None 



Contra Costa In-Home Supportive Services Public Authority 

P a g e  | 14 
 2019 Employer Audit 

Retiree Return to Work Monitoring 

b. Retiree Return to Work Monitoring

i. GC 7522.56 Retired Persons; Service and Employment Restrictions

Forfeiture of Benefits Earned or Accrued From the Commission of a Felony 

c. Felony Forfeiture Monitoring and Notification – GC 7522.72(g) and GC 7522.74(g)

Internal Revenue Code Section 415 Compliance 

As adopted on December 8, 2010 and amended on January 9, 2013 and July 11, 2018. 

Observation 8: None 

Observation 9: None 

Observation 10: None 



Contra Costa In-Home Supportive Services Public Authority 

P a g e  | 15 
 2019 Employer Audit 

Follow-Up Items 

The following items were noted during the course of the review and require follow-up by the 

Public Authority and CCCERA: 

1. Publicly Available Pay Schedule: In order to be in compliance with CCCERA policy,

IHSS will need to provide a publicly available pay schedule that meets the requirements

of CCCERA’s Policy On Determining “Pensionable Compensation” Under PEPRA For

Purposes Of Calculating Retirement Benefits.





8:30–9:00 am Breakfast and Registration 

9:00–9:15 am Welcome Remarks

9:15–10:15 am Exchange Fees and Overall 
Trading Costs
Marco Di Maggio
Professor of Finance
Harvard Business School 
Faculty Research Fellow
National Bureau of Economic Research

10:15–11:15 am Evaluating Systematic Managers
Jacobo Rodríguez
Vice President, Research
Dimensional Fund Advisors

11:15 am–12:30 pm Unlocking the Performance 
Potential in Your ESG Portfolio
Marcus Axthelm

Senior Portfolio Manager 
Vice President
Dimensional Fund Advisors

12:30–1:30 pm Optimal Life-Cycle Savings and 
Investing: From Theory to Practice
Zvi Bodie
President
Bodie Associates
Professor Emeritus
Boston University

1:30–2:30 pm Washington Update: Implications 
for Your Retirement Plan
David Levine
Principal
Groom Law Group

2:30–3:30 pm Investor Roundtable Discussion

AGENDA

DIMENSIONAL FUND ADVISORS

CORDIALLY INVITES YOU TO ATTEND OUR

Investment 
Forum
Join us as we gather with some of the 

world's leading investors to discuss the 

most recent research and insights from 

both academic and practitioner 

perspectives. Leading the discussions 

with presentations on their latest 

research and investment trends will be 

Zvi Bodie, Professor Emeritus at 

Boston University; Marco Di Maggio, 

Professor of Finance at Harvard Business 

School; David Levine, Principal at 

Groom Law Group; and senior members 

of Dimensional’s Investment and 

Research teams.

We are committed to building a 

community of engaged investment 

professionals and are excited to provide 

this great opportunity to interact with 

other institutional investors, academics, 

leading experts, and Dimensional Teams. 

Wednesday, September 18
8:30 am–3:30 pm PT

Dimensional Fund Advisors
1299 Ocean Avenue 
Santa Monica, CA 90401
(310) 395-8005

For registration details or for more information on 

the forum, please contact US Events at 

US_Events@dimensional.com or (512) 306-4630.

sshedd
Text Box
Meeting Date07/24/19Agenda Item#12a.





 


	Agenda 07.24.19
	Item 3
	Item 6
	Item 7
	Item 8
	Item 9
	Item 10
	Item 11
	Item 12



